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This Annual Report and other publicly available documents, including the documents incorporated herein and thereircby referen
contain, and our officers and repr-lecehitmad i veh&éthemepmng of henwit § n
safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include, bunéesi rof li
statements related to our current expectations, the performance of our business, our finaltgjalueBquidity and capital

resources and other ndstorical statements. Forwatdo o ki ng st at ements can be identifiec
Aiplan, o Agoal , o0 fAseek, o fAbelieve, o fbrbe¢kygtoofimagtomaskeool
references to future periods. Forwdodking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead,
they are based only on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptiodmgete future of our business, future plans and

strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and other future conditions. Becaukmkingatdtements

relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, ndkshanges in circumstances that are difficult to predict, and in

many cases, are outside of our control. Our actual results and financial condition may differ materially from thoseimthieated
forwardlooking statements. Therefore, you should not ogl any of these forwasdoking statements. Important factors that could
cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the dookand statements include,

among others, our ability to manage thedieeetd i ndi rect i mpact of -1190¢ mpawnale md @ar @mma
operations, and customer demand for our products and services, our ability to achieve operational efficiencies andwaeet custo
demand for products and services as wethasother risks identified in the risk factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report.

Any forwardlooking statement made by us in this Annual Report is based only on information currently available to us and speaks
only as of the date on which itisade. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forleaikdng statement made in this

Annual Report or any other forwaldoking statement that may be made from time to time, whether written or oral, whether as a
result of new information, futurevents, or otherwise.



Part |
Item 1. Business.
Overview

Agilysys has been driving hospitality software innovations for more than 40 years, deliveringiatnedSaaS and egremise ready
guestcentric technology solutions for gaming, hoteésorts and cruise lines, corporate foodservice management, restaurants,
universities, stadiums and healthcare. Agilysys offers the most comprehensive software solutions in the hospitalitiniriddstgy,
pointof-sale (POS), property management (PMi8)entory and procurement, payments, and related applications, to manage the
entire guest journey. Agilysys is also known for its world class custogereric service and recent investments in research and
development, having modernized virtually allldaagstanding trusted software solutions. Some of the largest hospitality companies
around the world use Agilysys solutions to help improve guest loyalty, drive revenue growth and increase operatiom@®fficien
Agilysys operates across North Americar@pe, the Middle East, AsiRacific and India with headquarters located in Alpharetta,
GA.

The Company has just one reportable segment serving the global hospitality industry.
Our principal executive offices are located at 1000 Windward Concourse, Sujtél@gbaretta, Georgia, 30005.

Reference herein to any particular year or quarter refers to periods within our fiscal year ended March 31. For exal20i22 fisc
refers to the fiscal year ended Ma&h 2022.

History and Significant Events

Organized inl 963 as PioneeéBtandard Electronics, Inc., an Ohio corporation, we began operations as a distributor of electronic
components and, later, enterprise computer solutions. Exiting the former business in fiscal 2003 with the sale of ialir Industr
ElectronicDivision, we used the proceeds to reduce debt and fund growth of our enterprise solutions business. This included acqui
businesses focused on higimeargin and more specialized solutions for the hospitality and retail industries. At the same time, we
changed our name to Agilysys, Inc.

In fiscal 2004, we acquired Inté&merican Data, Inc., which allowed us to become the leading developer and provider of technology
solutions for hotel property management and inventory management in the casino arnodestoes.

In fiscal 2007, we exited the enterprise computer distribution business. We used the proceeds from that sale to return cash t
shareholders and fund a number of acquisitions that broadened our solutions and capabilities portfolios. WinEn@airedis,

Inc., Visual One Systems Corp. and Eatec Corporation in fiscal 2008, significantly expanding our specialized offerings to the
hospitality industry through enterpristass POS, PMS and inventory and procurement software solutions tailosedkioety of
applications in cruise, golf, spa, gaming, lodging, resort and catering. These offerings feature highly intuitive, secbustand
solutions, easily scalable across multiple departments or property locations.

In fiscal 2012, we sold our ITotutions business and restructured our business model to focus ormayigém, profitable growth
opportunities in the hospitality and retail sectors. We also reduced owstasd footprint and lowered overhead costs by relocating
corporate servicesdm Solon, Ohio to Alpharetta, Georgia, thus moving our senior management team closer to our remaining
operating units.

In fiscal 2014, we sold our retail solutions and services business to Kyrus Solutions, Inc. (Kyrus), an affiliate oe@eaitak

Group, L.P. Following completion of the transaction, our business focused exclusively on hospitality solutions and the growth
opportunities in the hospitality market.

In fiscal 2018, we opened a software development center in Chennai, India, to supplerperdwuet development efforts.

We converted to a Delaware corporation in February 2022.

Today, we are focused on providing stafehe-art, endto-end solutions that enhance guest experiences and allow our customers to

promote their brands. We help ourstemers win the guest recruitment battle and, in turn, grow revenue, reduce costs and increase
efficiency. This is accomplished by developing and deploying innovative solutions that increase data speed and acgtatey, inte



with other enterprise systeraad create a common infrastructure for managing guest data thereby enabling more effective
management, intelligent upselling, reduced shrinkage, improved brand recognition and better control of the guest relationship

Our strategy is to increase the prapor of revenue we derive from subscription services, cloud applications, ongoing support and
maintenance agreements, and professional services.

Products, Support and Professional Services
We are a leading developer and marketer of soft@aebled solutions and services to the hospitality industry, including software
solutions fully integrated with third party hardware and operating systems; support, maintenance and subscriptionrgkrvices; a
professional services. Areas of specialization are point of sale, property management, and a broad range of solutipog that su
ecosystem of these core solutions.
We present revenue and costs of goods sold in three categories:

1 Products (hardwarend software)

1 Support, maintenance and subscription services

1 Professional services

Total revenue for these three specific areas is as follows:

Year ended MarcB1,

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Products $ 35,95t $ 26,71 $ 44,23(
Support, maintenance and subscription services 98,95¢ 88,56 83,68(
Professional services 27,72 21,89° 32,841
Total $ 162,63t $ 137,17¢  $ 160,75

Products:Products revenue is comprised of revenue from the sale of software along with third party hardware and operating systen
Software sales include up front revenue for licensing our solutions on a perpetual basis. Software sales are drivén iyt ourem s 6
ability to help customers meet the demands of their guests and improve operating efficiencies. Our software revemieeis layso d

the ability of our customers to configure our solutions for their specific needs and the robust catalog of integratifangdanthird

party solutions. Our software solutions require varying form factors of third party hardware and operating systems,tsugbeaate

staff facing terminals, kiosk solutions, mobile tablets or servers. Third party hardware and opgsetimgavenue is typically driven

by new customer wins and existing customer hardware refresh purchases.

Support, Maintenance and Subscription Servicd®chnical software support, software maintenance and software subscription
services are a significapbrtion of our consolidated revenue and typically generate higher profit margins than products revenue.
Growth has been driven by a strategic focus on developing and promotitgremd solutions while market demand for innovative
new products addressisgecific hospitality needs continues to reinforce this trend. Our commitment to exceptional service has
enabled us to become a trusted partner with customers who wish to optimize the level of service they provide to thadt guests
maximize commerce oppoinities both on premise and in the cloud.

Professional ServicesiVe have industryeading expertise in designing, implementing, integrating and installing customized solutions
into both traditional and newly created platforms. For existing enterprisesgamgessly integrate new systems and for-sfzstand
fastgrowing customers, we become a partner that can managestaigerollouts and tight construction schedules. Our extensive
experience ranges from staging equipment to phased rollouts as waihag staff to provide operational expertise to help achieve
maximum effectiveness and efficiencies in a manner that saves our customers time and money.

Our portfolio of hospitality software solutions:

The hospitality industry has long been focused perating endo-end businesses, but the technology vendors that service the

industry have been focused on prodoentric solutions that make use of a high number of software modules and operating silos. To
resolve this disconnect and more effectivelyraligith the business operations of our customers, we have evolved our approach to be
focused on del i vetrciemg riinctoe gsrodtuead ofnpsl adtofrorLmmdgi ng and Food
necessary to support this ecosystem.



Ourtechnology platform is aimed at transitioning our product and services offerings to better address the needs of hospitality
operators as they focus on building better connections with guests before, during ansitp@¥geé offer an endo-end solutionhat
helps our customers improve the guest experience, optimize staff efficiency, increfise pepformance and reduce operating costs,
which leads to opportunities for higher profitability. Our integrated yet modular products allow hospitality spgeratoruit and

retain customers into their facilities, increase their wallet share from each guest and improve the overall expericmmat theoug
entire guest journely from the initial customer touch point through puit interactions.

With our ommi-channel suite of software products, we are uniquely positioned to offer solutions that allow customers to adhere to
social distancing guidelines, offer contactless solutions at every point of the guest journey, and maximize operaigogl affic
while providing an improved guest experience.

Point of Sale (POS) Solutions:

Agilysys POS solution suite allows customers to provide their guests with archammiel experience within their property. Guests

are empowered to create their own experiencesighr ordering from a mobile device or walking up to aseif/ice kiosk, but also
providing for a more traditional experience with staff by interacting with a cashier or bar, or having a server come to them.
Irrespective of the channel of interaction floe guest, our POS suite provides a single integrated entegpaide bacloffice

management system with robust reporting capabilities. This allows our customers to manage menus, price changes, padsasing tr
inventory management and sales reportimogifa single integrated source providing for increased efficiency as well as providing a
richer guest profile.

(:.‘ L?_foGenesis POS

Agilysys InfoGenesis® POS is an awawrihning point of sale solution that combines a fast, intuitive and highly customizable
terminal application with powerful, flexible reporting and configuration capabilities in the back office management ppdgbem

is easy to set up, and its scalable architecture enables customers to add workstations without having to build out expensive
infrastructure. InfoGenesis supports a wide range of POS devices from traditional POS terminals to iPads, Android tablate and
phones, allowing customers to seamlessly deploy a mix of POS experiences based upon guest and server requirement8. §he syste
detailed and higlguality reporting capabilities provide insight into sales data and guest purchasing trends. Enginedirezjfons

of the world, the InfoGenesis POS solution suite offers a multinational set of features, including language, currenalfiandlloc
reporting, coupled with a robust enterprise management capability enabling the largest global cuseffivgzatty run their
businesses. With a foundation platform of modern integration APIs, the solution is also capable of integrating withod variety
ancillary applications allowing our customers to keep their entire technology estate. InfoGenesiaRd&hie as a cloudased or
on-premise solution.

|G Flex

Agilysys I G Flex is a mobility solution that of f efadorsfltul | p
provides a sleek, modern alternative to traditional pointlefieatallations and can be used as a slim fixed terminal or as a convertible
mobile POS simply by removing the tablet from its base.

R~ KNC
G KDS

Agilysys IG KDS is a digital kitchen management solution that integrates with InfoGenesis, IG Buy® Kiosk and 1G CshBBeman
deliver staff and customariginated orders to the kitchen for preparation. Custom attributes such as guest phone number, name, gu
location or packaging instructions can be provided on each incoming order so the order can be fulfilled prgogslg tGuests can
optionally be notified of order completion via an order status monitor (OSM) or via text message.

GBu



Agilysys IG Buy is an enterprisglass sekservice, customeiacing kiosk point of sale solution for the hospitality industry. It éaid

for food & beverage venues such as buffets, grab daymof go, co
operational workflows, such as for dedheckorud , payan,d fawatiehepfr ad rel:
property management, casino management and loyalty systems. |G Buy Kiosk is currently deployed at more than 270 caistomer sit
across the country, including corporate cafeterias at a top five U.S. bank, a top 40 U.S. law firm, one of thérmsati | ar ge st
manufacturers, and at a national financial services firm.

Agil ysys | G B ufaaing ordemandipaytexperienceg tnaasset the control and convenience to the end user. The self
service components reduce-site labor neegdd to manage venue operations, while improving guest throughput, check size, order
accuracy, guest experience and satisfaction. The platfauean and clousbased solution allows for easy deployments and
management at scale resulting in a lowered oveoali of ownership.

G :__;l'l[:i' MmMand

Agilysys IG OnDemand provides a visual, interactive food and beverage ordering experience to any mobilgtevniegtablet,
laptopi with a browsetbased selfervice experience. Using a simple, intuitive interface, guests cinadsr and reorder from
anywhere across the property, driving order velocity and volume.

Agilysys IG OnDemand allows our customers to immediately offer an online ordering platform that is natively integrateslrwith t
physical location operations. Memand price updates can be done in one place and automatically updated across alli chilimmels
web store, digital menus and app ordering as well as POS terminals. Orders placed online are routed automaticallppoighe appr
kitchen for preparatiarOrders placed from all channels are automatically available on the POS terminal at the physical location.

IG OnDernand

Agilysys IG OnDemand Full Servide a complete contactless ss#rvice F&B ordering solution that offers an intuitive gtfasing
order andhay experience. |G OnDemand allows guests to place and pay for orders using their owngernee tablet, laptop for
pick-up or delivery orders, as well as for a tableside order and pay experience. It supports ordering for multiple gudste\ara tab
the course of a meal using their own devices making the ordering process touchless while freeing up staff to spenduittore time
guests. The result is dramatically increased revenue opportunities and more chances to enhance guest service.

|G Quick Pay

Agilysys G Quick Pay allows guests to use their own mobile device, scan a QR code on the InfoGenesis check, review a digital co
of the check, add a tip & initiate payment, maintaining a fully touchless guest payment experience. The product cande sold a
standilone payment solution or can be bundled with IG OnDemand for a complete order and pay experience.

IG Smart Ment

Agilysys I G Smart Menu provides a t oucphbne,sablet, laptapuSimgply cgmb @8 o
code to access a venuenmuehat is linked directly to the actual items available in the IG OnDemand system, not a pdf or a website
link. The product can be sold as a standalone menu solution or can be bundled with IG OnDemand for a complete menpagrder anc
experience.

|G Digital Menu Board

Agilysys IG Digital Menu Board provides large screen menu and image display on commercial television monitors. It will display a
venue menu that is linked directly to the actual items available in the IG OnDemand system, not a pdf or a websitecnk, so i
easily reflect the latest items and pricing.

Property Management Systems (PMS):

Agilysys offers the most comprehensive suite of property management applications to serve the needs of our integeatdd resort
hospitality customers. Our platforms enable customers to provide a seamless experience to their guests while driving operational



efficiencies throughout the value chain. Our PMS suite of applications consists of the core property management system, a
commission free booking engine, ss#frvice chek in and check out solutions, spa, golf, retail, accounting, sales and catering, service
request optimization and condo management applications.

AL

Agi | ysys L MBhiseioshosted, webmnd mokileabled, PMS solution targeting the operator Veitge, complex
operations. It runs 24/7 to automate every aspect of hotel operations in properties from 100 to over 7,000 rooms exfadbasant
a wide array of industry applications including but not limited to all core casino management syst@adiagdjlobal distribution
systems. Its foundation expands to incorporate modules for activities scheduling, attraction ticketing and more.

(‘ Visual One
R Y syl

Agilysys Visual One® PMS is installed in hotels and resorts ranging frein@D rooms. It is a complete hospitality solution
expanding beyond traditional PMS solutions enabling the resort to run #ts-end operations, including front desk, housekegpi
maintenance, accounting, and condo owner management, with tight integration to Agilysys Sales & Catering, Spa, Golf, and
Activities. Visual One provides an integrated solution with interfaces to leading global distribution systems, casino emhnagem
systems, hospitality automation and our other products.

AERS

Agilysys Stay PMS -ratsre Sa&Sepromedymaragemdnissysierh that aptimizes operational efficiency, increases
revenue and enhances guest service. Agilysys Stay is currently geaeadlable for all hotels and chains, as well as for select

service casino hotels. The guesntric PMS leverages an open architecture with restful APIs to enable richly integrated applications
delivered from Agilysys, its partners and customers. AggyStay offers powerful capabilities for muyttioperty operations, allowing
managers to view guest profiles, history and reservations, as well as room availability and operational reports, seswskessly a
multiple properties.

Focused oimproving revenue and streamlining operations, Agilysys Stay is designed to enable hotels to gather and analyze guest
information across properties that can be used to create lggalgrating offers and increase guest wallet share. In addition, running
natively in a browser on both desktop and tablet devices, it deliversmeabperating metrics so that hotels can more accurately
forecast demand and scale guest services accordingly.

Virtual Checkin and Checlout Solutions

Todayds hot eslwihhigheekpeatationsovhen it @mds to technological efficiency. An emerging trend in the hotel
industry that has accelerated in the COMI® environment where social distancing is often the norm, is the ability for guests to check
themselves in or owf their room without interacting with the front desk. To that end, we offer software modules that enable this
approach and are fully integrated with our core PMS solutions.

Point of Sale and Property Management Ecosystem Offerings:
The following solutionsntegrate with and are complementary to our point of sale or property management systems, or both. These

solutions, for the most part, can stand alone and do not require POS or PMS to be functional. However, we lead wiBQfir core
and PMS solutions disissed above and focus on selling these complimentary ecosystem solutions into our customer base.

MGuest Express



rGuest ExpressKiosk simplifies checkn and checlout, optimizes staff productivity and enhances the guest experience by enabling
a seamless sedferviceoption for guests to use in the hotel lobby at a kiosk. More properties are turning to kiosks to reduce overheac
and offer more sel§ervice options. With rGuest Expred§i os k, it dés easy to el evalnestal.er vi c
rGuestExpress Kiosk provides ID verification to allow for hotels to enforce security standards efficiently and to allow the guest to
bypass the front desk and observe social distancing guidelines.

MGuest Express

rGuest ExpressMobile simplifies checkn andcheckout even further and at the same time allows operators to offer mobile keys,
concurrent dining reservations or room upsells, all on a personal mobile device such as a smart phone or tablet. rerapeitigs a

to mobility at an eveincreasing pae to improve efficiency. With rGuest Expreddlobi | e, it 6s easy to red
empower guests by putting the power of choice in the palm of their hand. r&xgsess Mobile allows for digital ID verification

before securely delivering the d& room key to the guest phone allowing operators to maintain security standards while allowing the
guest to bypass the front desk.

Als#

Agilysys Pay payment processing solution is our iamambvative
reduces risk by leveraging poittt-point encryption (P2PE) and tokenization with every credit card transaction. Agilysys Pay
Complete leverages one of the first payment gateways in the world to receive officR2PElvalidation, allowing us tofef PCI

cost and scope reduction that other providers cannot. These security benefits are built on togezftarfdl, enterprisgrade
gateway that offers broad support for U.S., CanmdwidewarietEur o
of payment device options for every usase, including countertop, paytable, EMV, mobile tablet, and signature capture scenarios.

Agilysys Pay offers contactless payment options on all markets as well as supporting various wa#et pations like Apple Pay®,
Google Pay®, AliPay®, and WeChat®.

’A Spa

ByAgilysys

Agilysys Spa software covers all aspects of running a spa, from scheduling guests for services to managing staff sithetiides. W
guestcentric technology, spas have more time to focus on creating personalized experiences in places of quiet iailgsilgy

Spa is a single solution that connects effortlessly to our other software solutions. The solution inchiities rgalgration, simplifies
the appointment booking process, enhances the guest experience, and maximizes the value of thevepaasenter.

Integrated with our booking engine, rGuest Book, customers can book both their hotel room and their spa appointmeimgléom a s
place giving operators additional opportunities to upsell and cross sell various amenities that they.can offe

A Jl

rGuest Golf is a guest centric golf management software that offers golf property managers complete pro shop management with
time scheduling, member profile/billing, tournament management and Webraaill @& cess bundled into one solution. Custsn

are given the option of using our robust built in retail POS module or they may choose to leverage the power of InfS@Géesis.
easily schedule and personalize reservations for guests which then appear on itineraries, confirmations, Redddliogerations

with multiple amenities can integrate with rGuest Book and allow patrons to book both their resort reservation andtéestingelf
simultaneously.

MGuest Book



rGuest Book is a commissidree, easyto-u s e r eser vati on s yogetgeests effditlasshtisroughehe bogkm@ d t ¢
process of hotel rooms, spa appointments and golf tee times for a single guest itinerary. The solution allows boolinghof@ne

rooms and is seamlessly connected with our core PMS solutions to providéeadlawperience for guests and hotel operators.

rGuest Book is the only booking engine in the market that seamlessly integrates with the core primary gaming systera fond allow
casino operators to enable their patrons telsadk their entittements rekimg in increased guest satisfaction and reduced operational
expenses. The solution also allows operators to capture increased revenue thraxrghaadtupsells of premium rooms.

MGuest Service

rGuest Service is our integrated service optimization platform thatsabor customers to provide an integrated hospitality
experience for their guests while driving greater operational efficiency by connecting departments across tfreritalesk, house
keeping, concierge, maintenance, bell desk, food runners, wigiestaThe rGuest service platform provides a unified
communication and messaging service for guest and staff interaction as well as internal staff interaction. Apart from thevidi
functionality for managing back of house operations like hd&egpng, engineering and maintenance, the rGuest service platform
proactively tracks events and exceptions that take place in the hotel or resort and drive targeted action to ensureftggledeve
satisfaction at all times.

(A‘ Authorize

ByAg

Agilysys authorize provides support for fullyitomated and secure online payments for any room deposits, 3rd party guarantees and
folio charges while eliminating the need for manual credit card authorization forms. Payment is seamlessly authorinstednd p
appropriately in reatime.

(‘-‘ eqec

Agilysysod EatecE solution provides core purchasingndisi nvent
unique in offering catering, restaurant, buffet management and nutrition modulgisgteavebe na bl ed sol uti on. A
Mobile is an optional app that can be downloaded from Google Play and Apple app stores and provides users with aacess to Eate
application from any Android® and iOS® device. Users can provide inventory recaivihgansfer operations seamlessly from any

mobile device even when they are offline using Eatecds i nn

A\ B

Agilysys Stratton Warren System (SWS) integrates with all leading financial and POS software productswahe isafhages the

entire procurement process vie@nmerce, from business development to the management of entesipiéseackend systems and

daily operations. Agilysys SWS Direct is an agldmodule for SWS that provides a convenient, efficient andiirgishopping cart
experience to SWS users. SWS Direct streamlines operations, provides enhanced bidding and request for pricing seffeces, and o
supplier registration tools and sskrvice maintenance capabilities.

ﬂ‘ DataMagine’
&Y e 8y

Agi l ysys Dat aMa gagamehkt sollton is alléFatentechimaging module and archiving solution that allows users

to securely capture and retrieve documents and syg¢@e@rated information. DataMagine integrates with other Agilysys products,
adding functionality and providingeamless workflows that cross functional areas. DataMagine helps drive the Go Green initiative at
a number of our customer sites by enabling a completely paperless experience through all facets of the customer$ @penations
signature capture attheofmnt desk t o automated routing of PO&6s and requi s
indexing and archiving features to allows easy contextual based document retrieval.

(:“ Sgat

10



Agilysys Seat solution is a guesgntric reservation and waittisianagement solution that helps operators to book any venue. The
solution allows operators to manage restaurant, cabana and auditorium reservations. With an innovative doll house ulew approa
patrons have the ability to select and book a specific s@atdstaurant or a specific cabana on a pool deck online. With built in price
yielding capabilities, rGuest Seat allows operators to maximize revenue opportunities for various locations. Usingntigeidstilt
management system, operators can buildtgurediles and provide a superior experience while driving repeat guests.

Q‘ ﬁnalyze

Agilysys Analyze is a clouthased data analytic platform focused on the needs of the hospitality industry. It is a full business
intelligence solution that collects data from Agiss point of sale and property management solutions and helps food & beverage and
property operators gain critical insight into business operations and performanoétiaiox analysis helps hospitality operators
manage costs, minimize loss due to fraboost item sales, increase server productivity, occupancy, room revenue, and other profit
enhancing capabilities.

ﬁ‘ Digital Marketing
.Y

ByAgilysys,

Agilysys Digital Marketing provides a flexible hospitality marketing automation solution supporting guest email and SMignarke
communcations through event and campalmpsed rules. Marketers can segment guests by type or other criteria and send context
related communications at time of reservation, checkheckout or by marketing campaign types. Digital email campaigns allow
users a inexpensive way to stay connected to their guest throughout the guest journey. The result is increased return visits and
improved revenue from targeted offers based upon guest segment and journey stage.

(.A‘ Retail

ByAgilysys,

Agilysys Retail is our basic POS solution to support retail item sales in spas, gift shopsdimrgps t hat dond6t nee
POS system. Easily setup and track inventory, sell items as part of other services, and consolidate it all arfdlihe gues

(L) Central Reservations
@

ByAgilysys

Agilysys Central Reservations provides a single-sigracross multiple customer properties that allows staff to view guest profiles,
trips, room availability across properties, make/modify/transfer reservations, scan property offers and rates, ahd resudt i$
improved central reservations efficiency, increased revenue fromprassrty sales and upsells, and superior guest service.

Representative Agilysys clients include:

7 Cedars Casino Dickies Arena Pinehurst Resort

AVI Foodsystems, Inc. Drury Hotels Prairie Band Casino & Resort
Banner Health Ellis Island Hotel, Casino and Brewery Resorts World Bimini

Boyd Gaming Corporation Golden Nugget Lake Charles Rosen Hotels & Resorts
Caesars Entertainment Grand CentraHotel in Belfast Rosewood Castiglion Del Bosco
Cal Dining at UC Berkeley Grand Sierra Resort and Casino Royal Caribbean Group
Camelback Lodge & Waterpark Hialeah Park Seaport Districi NYC

Carnival UK Hilton Worldwide Spooky Nook Sports
CartoonNetwork Hotel Intercontinental Hotel Group Stations Casino

Casino del Sol Resort Kiawah The Venetian Resort Hotel Casino
Catholic Charities Kimpton Hotels The Kessler Collection
Chukchansi Gold Resort & Casino Longwood University Treehousé London

Compass Group North America Maryland Live! Casino Vail Resorts

Comanche Nation of Oklahoma MGM Valley View Casino & Hotel
Costa Pacifica Oxford Casino Vanderbilt University

The Cosmopolitan of Las Vegas Palm Garden Hotel Wendover Resorts
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Industry and Markets

We are a technology software solutions company exclusively focused on the hospitality industry. Our products have bgen enabli
missioncritical core hospitality operations for more than four decades. Our software solutions are required to run thesapfetegtio
hospitality business and designed to drive substantial customer benefits through increased revenue, improved opeiatiopal effi
enhanced guest experience and improved employee morale. In addition, many of our solutions enable socigl chgiaitities for

our customers. Our innovative software solutions described above have been-puibéseerve the unique needs of the following
hospitality verticals: casinos, hotels, resorts, cruise ships, managed foodservice providers, spottstaiminent, and healthcare.

We operate across North America, Europe, A&aific and India with headquarters located in Alpharetta, GA.

Some verticals we serve continue to face uncertainties with the CO¥ liandemic. As more people receive vacoimegiand
pandemierelated restrictions continue to ease, the markets we serve are recoveringpeimg to their customers. The letegm
outlook remains strong and we expect the momentum from the three years preceding the pandemic to continwégtbwlding
growing focus on social distancing and mobile applications. Prior to C&¥9|Dve estimated our total addressable market to be
approximately $4.8 billion in annual recurring revenue opportunity. While the size of the opportunity might face pressure
economic downturn, we feel it is still in the billions of dollars and we are only a fraction of that size. We continugaodedsout
our opportunity to win market share given our relative competitive strength in the industry.

Customers

Our cusbmers include large, mediugized and boutique hospitality providers, both owned and franchised, as well as divisions or
departments of large corporations in the hospitality industry. We concentrate on serving the needs of customers in a range of
customeifocused settings where brand differentiation is important and guest recruitment is intense. Our customer base is highly
fragmented.

Human Capital

As of March31, 2022, we employed approximately 1,400 employees, with approximately 63%, 30%, 3%, 3%, &odirl% o
employees located in India, the United States, APAC, Canada, and EMEA, respectively. We consider our relationship with our
employees to be good and a critical factor in our success.

Our senior management team is responsible for developing and egemuttihuman capital strategy. We seek employees who share a
passion for technology and its ability to improve tweur cust
compensation and benefits t lkhaingard tostg their grondhiand deveigpinemty Vieecoffebouro v e r
employees pay and benefits packages that we believe are competitive with others throughout our industry, as well asoeéhin th
markets in which we operate, and align individual performaviteour success.

We are committed to providing our employees with an environment free of discrimination, harassment and workplace violence. We
make all benefit and employmerglated decisions in compliance with established equal employment opportahitgs and without
regard to religion, national origin, age, gender, race, color, ancestry, sexual orientation, disability, marital Z@ns)jmiti

pregnancy, medical condition or any other protected class status, as defined by local, statd avied@themployees, directors,
independent contractors, and other parties who work with Agilysys are expected to create a working environment wheris everyone
respected, regardless of individual differences. We believe that each of our employeidsiahdnaracter, virtues, and individual
experiences will leverage our ability to attract and retain quality employees, customers, and suppliers.

Seasonality

Occasionally, the timing of large otiene orders, such as those associated swhificant remarketed product sales around large
customer refresh cycles or significant volume rollouts, creates variability in our quarterly results.

Competition

Our solutions face a highly competitive market. Competition exists with respect to degedapimaintaining relationships with
customers, pricing for products and solutions, and customer support and service.

We compete with other fulervice providers that sell and service bundled POS and PMS solutions comprised of hardware, software
supportsubscription and services. These companies, some of which are much larger than we are, include Oracle Corp., Shiji,
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Amadeus IT Group and Infor. We also compete with smaller software companies like Maestro. In addition, we compete with PMS
systems that amesigned and maintainediimuse by large hotel chains.

Environmental Matters

We believe we are compliant in all material respects with all applicable environmental laws. Presently, we do not traicpate
compliance will have a material effect oapital expenditures, earnings or competitive position with respect to any of our operations.

Access to Information

Our annual reports on Form-KJ quaterly reports on Form 2@, current reports on Formk and any amendments to these reports

are available free of charge through our corporate welbgife/www.agilysys.comas soon as reasonably practicable after such
materal is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The information posted on our
website is not incorporated into this Annual Report. Reports, proxy and information statements, and other informatiog regardi
issuers that file electronically, are maintained on the SEC web#ijpe//www.sec.gov

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risks Relating to Our Business
Markets, Competition, and Operations

Our business is impacted by changesniracroeconomic and/or global conditions.

Because we conduct our business internationally, changes in global, national, or regional economies, governmentalkhdalicigs (i
in areas such as trade, travel, immigration, healthcare, and related issugs3] paoliest, armed conflictsifch as the 2022 Russian
invasion of Ukraing natural disasters, or outbreaks of disease (such as the GTO\fiBndemic) may impact our business. Any
general weakening of, and related declining corporate confidence inpb@ gconomy or the curtailment in corporate spending
could cause current or potential customers to reduce or eliminate their information technology budgets and spendingldwhich co
cause customers to delay, decrease or cancel purchases of our prodisetviges; cause customers not to pay us; or to delay
payment for previously purchased products and services.

For example, our business is impacted by decreases in travel and leisure activities resulting from weak economic iconel#smss,

in energyprices and changes in currency values, political instability, heightened travel security measures, travel advisoriessdisrupt
in air travel, and concerns over di seaseOVIDM has bdeenseleimpaha@ur , o
business and may further impact our business, financial results and liquidity for an unknown period @ftimeur per f or ma
been affected by these conditions associated with Ca@@Rnd could be further materially affected going forwartiése

conditions continue for an additional extended period or in other circumstances that we are unable to foresee or mitighits. Ev
COVID-19 subsides, our business, markets, growth prospects and business model could be materially impacteda atstdtdof
adverse changes in travel and leisure activities.

Similarly, increases in energy prices can result in higher ingredient and food costs for our customers with restaurars, eyt
may adversely affect denthusigesséspand imturm ouchbwsness, fimancial éesultseusdtlicuidity.

COVID-19 has adversely impacted our business and may further impact our business, financial results and liquidity for an
unknown period of time.

The global spread and unpreceddritapact of COVID19 has resulted in disruption to our business, the hospitality industry and the
global economy. The COVI29 pandemic has led government and other authorities around the world to impose measures intended
control its spread, includingstrictions on freedom of movement, gatherings of large numbers of people, and business operations
such as travel bans, border closings, business closures, quarantinesirspitar orders, and social distancing measures. Even as
these restrictions haween relaxed in many parts of the world, including across the United States, they remain effective in other par
of the world and have frequently beermgosed in many locations after having been relaxed as a result of additional outbreaks. As a
resut, the COVID19 pandemic and its consequences have significantly reduced demand for gaming, hotels, resorts, cruises, corpo
foodservice, restaurants, university cafeterias, and stadiums and have had a material detrimental impact on global admaityercial
across these hospitality industries that we serve,sinesnd in
closures have resulted in our inability to complete certain implementations and negatively impacted our abiigynipereevenue.

We saw an improvement in the overall business environment and the hospitality market we serve during the second isaHlof our f

2021 (the year ended March 31, 2021) that continued through our fiscal 2022 as our custopwnredeheilocations for business
and our suppliers resumed operations that had been closed or reduced due to the pandemic. Based on the improved business
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environment and our financial performance, we have resumed certain levels of spending; however, we wiltocadBrRss

spending activity as the facts and circumstances surrounding the pandemic evolve. Any resulting cost controls may bese an adv
impact on our business, particularly if they remain in place for an extended period. As the pandemic hasvevbbresialso

adapted our pandemic response based on the conditions of the locations in which we and our customers and suppliees operate. W
expect to incur additional costs to the extent we further resume buséitessl travel and our employees returouo office

locations, the timing and extent of which remains undetermined at this time. We expect the office activity will varasilyriifaam

region to region based on factors such as the availability of vaccines and the spread and overallampaewvofirus variants.

Notwithstanding the recovery in the business environment since the early part of the pandemic, given the uncertaiety\sihociat
the pandemic, our ability to predict how it will impact our business, financial condition, liguadid financial results in future
periods is limited.

Our business may be adversely impacted by international trade disputes.

We depend on thirgarty manufacturers and suppliers located outside of the United States, including in Glonagition with the
supply of certain of our hardware products and related components. Accordingly, our business is subject to risks aglociated w
international supply. For example, in recent years the United States has imposed and extended gietges @sinternational

trade and significant increases in tariffs on goods imported into the United States from China and other countriestdrifi®ased
including on goods imported from China, or the institution of additional protectionist tradeimeaould adversely affect our supply
costs, and in turn, our business, financial results and liquidity.

Our future success will depend on our ability to develop new products, product upgrades and services that achieve market
acceptance.

Our business isharacterized by rapid and continual changes in technology and evolving industry standards. We believe that in orde
to remain competitive in the future we need to continue to develop new products, product upgrades and services, requiring the
investmentb si gni fi cant financi al resources. I f we fail to accl
otherwise unable to complete the development of a product or product upgrade on a timely basis, we will be unablegamaroduc
products or product upgrades into the market that are demanded by our customers and prospective customers on aifiately basis,
all, and our business and operating results would be materially and adversely affected.

The development process for most nawducts and product upgrades is complicated, involves a significant commitment of time and
resources and is subject to a number of risks and challenges including:

1 Managing the length of the development cycle for new products and product enhancements;

1 Adapting to emerging and evolving industry standards and to technological developments by our competitors and custome
and

1 Extending the operation of our products and services to new and evolving platforms, operating systems and hardware
products, suchsamobile devices.

Our product development activities are costly and recovering our investment in product development may take a signifitaft amo
time, if it occurs at all. We anticipate continuing to make significant investments in software resebgelvelopment and related
product opportunities because we believe it is necessary to compete successfully. We cannot estimate with any centantyilivhen
if ever, receive significant revenues from these investments.

If we are not successful in magiag these risks and challenges, or if our new products, product upgrades, and services are not
technologically competitive or do not achieve market acceptance, our business and operating results could be advedsely affect

We face extensive competition the markets in which we operate, and our failure to compete effectively could result in price
reductions and/or decreased demand for our products and services.

Several companies offer products and services similar to ours. The rapid rate of techndiagigalin the hospitality market makes
it likely we will face competition from new products designed by companies not currently competing with us. We believe our
competitive ability depends on our product offerings, our experience in the hospitalitiryndus product development and systems
integration capability, and our customer service organization. There is no assurance, however, that we will be able to compet
effectively in the hospitality technology market in the future.

We compete for customelmmised on several factors, including price. The competitive markets in which we operate may oblige us to
reduce our prices in order to contend with the pricing models of our competitors. If our competitors discount certagngoroduct
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services, we may have lower prices on certain products or services in order to attract or retain customers. Any such price
modifications would likely reduce margins and could have adverse effects. In addition, if we fail to reduce our prieesan ord
contend with the pecing models of our competitors, we may not be able to retain customers or grow our business, which could
adversely affect our revenues and liquidity.

Our future success depends on our ability to execute on growth or strategic initiatives, praparigge investments in our
business and operations, and enhance our existing operations and infrastructure.

Our success also depends on our ability to execute on other growth or strategic initiatives we are pursuing. A key eleroeg of
term strategys to continue to invest in and grow our business and operations, both organically and through acquisitions.

Investments in new markets, solutions, and technologies, R&D, infrastructure and systems, geographic expansion, andreeadcount
critical componets for achieving this strategy. In particular, we believe that we must continue to dedicate a significant amount of
resources to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive position. Our investments in researaparehtievel
may resit in products or services that generate less revenue than we anticipate.

However, such investments and efforts present challenges and risks and may not be successful (financially or othesiaisein espe
new areas in which we have little or no expecie, and even if successful, may negatively impact our profitability in thetshwrt

To be successful in such efforts, we must be able to properly allocate limited investment funds and other resourzesamoagti
opportunities, balance the extemtd timing of investments with the associated impact on profitability, balance our focus between new
areas and the servicing of our existing customers, capture efficiencies and economies of scale, and compete in themeithareas,

the new solutions, iwhich we have invested.

Our success also depends on our ability to effectively and efficiently enhance our existing operations. Our existungfunéastr
systems, security, processes, and personnel may not be adequate for our current or futurngsteradgpd@ades or new
implementations can be complex, tho@ensuming, and expensive and we cannot assure you that we will not experience problems
during or following such implementations, including among others, potential disruptions in our operatioasodafreporting.

If we are unable to properly execute on growth initiatives, manage our investments, and enhance our existing operations and
infrastructure, our results of operations and market share may be materially adversely affected.

Our dependencen certain strategic partners makes us vulnerable to the extent we rely on them.

We rely on a concentrated number of suppliers for the majority of our hardware and for certain software and relatatesésiices

We do not have long term agreements witmynaf these suppliers. If we can no longer obtain these hardware, software or services
needs from our major suppliers due to mergers, acquisitions or consolidation within the marketplace, material changestirethei
programs, their refusal to contimo supply to us on reasonable terms or at all, and we cannot find suitable replacement suppliers, it
may have a material adverse impact on our future operating results and gross margins.

For certain products and services, including our cloud hosting ogigons, we rely on thirebarty providers, which may create
significant risk exposure for us.

We maintain relationships with third parties to provide certain services to us or to our customers, including clouchdasttirey a
cloudbased services. We mag&entractual obligations to customers based on these relationships and, in some cases, also entrust th
providers with both our own sensitive data as well as the sensitive data of our customers (that may include sensiitz.dtiest d

these thirgparty providers do not perform as expected or encounter service disruptionsatiglo&s, data breaches, or other

difficulties, we or our customers may be materially and adversely affected, including, among other things, by facind tustsase
potentialliability to customers, guests, or other third parties, regulatory issues, and reputational harm. If it is necessatg to migra
these services to other providers because of poor performance, security considerations, or other financial or opéoatiahal fac

could result in service disruptions to our customers and significant time, expense, or exposure to us, any of whictedallyd mat
adversely impact our business.

We also purchase hardware and technology, in some cases, by or from companies ¢hatgass/ with us or work with our
competitors. While we endeavor to use larger, more established providers wherever possible, in some cases, these plmviders ma
smaller, less established companies, particularly in the case of new or unique techtttdbgieshave not developed internally, or in

an effort to benefit our margins.

If any of these providers experience financial, operational, or quality assurance difficulties, or if any cease prodilnierisany
other disruption in the services weour customers receive, including as a result of the acquisition of a supplier or partner by a
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competitor, macroeconomic issues like those described above (such as the-CIpABdemic or the 2022 Russian invasion of
Ukraine), or otherwise, we will bequired to locate and migrate to alternative sources or providers, to internally develop the
applicable technologies, to redesign our products, or to remove certain features from our products or to reduce aweteraiog |

of which would likely incrase our expenses, create delays, or negatively impact our revenues. Although we strive to establish
contractual protections with key providers, such as source code escrows, warranties, and indemnities, we may not baasuccessfu
obtaining adequate protémts, these agreements may be shtewrn in duration, and the counterparties may be unwilling or unable to
stand behind such protections. Moreover, these types of contractual protections offer limited practical benefits tewentnotire
relationshipwith a key provider is interrupted.

If we cannot retain and recruit qualified personnel, or if labor costs continue to rise, our ability to operate and growusimess
may be impaired and our financial results may suffer.

We depend on the services of mm@nagement and employees to continuously run and grow our business. To grow successfully, we
must retain existing employees and attract new qualified employees, including in growth areas we may enter. Retendastiy an i
challenge given the competiéi technology labor market, especially with the remote work options brought on by the AOVID
pandemic. As we grow, we must also enhance and expand our workforce to execute on new and larger opportunities and challeng
The market for qualified personrislcompetitive in the geographies in which we operate and may be limited especially in technology
areas. We may be at a disadvantage to larger companies with greater brand recognition or financial resourcesps to ether
emerging companies inending market sectors. Remote employment arrangements also come with challenges, including with respe
to collaboration, training, and corporate culture, especially at a significant scale. If we are unable to attract guodlifi¢ain

personnel whenral where they are needed or to manage effectively our remote workforce, our ability to operate and grow our
business could be impaired. Moreover, if we are not able to properly balance our investments in personnel with revenues, our
profitability may be adersely affected.

While the market for talent in our industry has been competitive for many years, in recent quarters, the labor marketénasdrec
tighter, increasing the difficulty and lead time in filling open positions with qualified candidatgsirgrabor shortages or
increasing labor costs could negatively impact our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows, espisaiallydsts
outpace our revenue growth.

Our international operations have many associated risks.

We conthue to strategically manage our presence in international markets, and these efforts require significant management attent
and financial resources. We may not be able to successfully penetrate international markets, or, if we do, there camdreeno as

that we will grow our business in these markets at the same rate as in North America. Because of these inherent camaplexities
challenges, lack of success in international markets could adversely affect our business, results of operations acakfintmeial
condition.

We have international offices in Canada, the United Kingdom, China, Hong Kong, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapora, and Indi
We have committed resources to maintaining and further expanding, where appropriate, our salesdf@les and support
channels in key international markets. However, our efforts may not be successful. International sales are subjecske arahy ri
difficulties, including those arising from the following: building and maintaining a competitivenmmesn new markets; staffing and
managing foreign operations; complying with a variety of foreign laws; producing localized versions of our productsngdevelopi
integrations between our products and other loasslyd products; import and export restdng and tariffs, enforcing contracts and
collecting accounts receivable; unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; reduced protection for intellectuabpteperty r
some countries; potential adverse tax treatment; language and cultural beurrerssy fluctuations; and political and economic
instability abroad.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events affecting our principal facilities could cripple our business.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events, particularly those affentiployees in our Alpharetta headquarters or India research
and development center, may cause damage or disruption to our operations, and thus could have a negative effect 6ows. Most o
administrative functions are concentrated in our Alpharettadueattkrs and most of our software development activity is

concentrated in our India research and development center. We maintain crisis management and disaster response pigns, and dur
the COVID-19 pandemic, substantially all of our employees througth@uvorld have been capable of working from home for

months at a time without significantly impacting our business. However, a natural disaster, fire, power shortage, pahdemic, a
terrorism or other catastrophic event occurring in either geograplaiccldcon t hat prevents or subst al
ability to work, either in the office or from home, could make it difficult or impossible for us to deliver our produserands to
customers.
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Regulatory Matters, Data Privacynformation Security, and Product Functionality

Cyberattacks involving our systems and data could expose us to liability or harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect
on our business.

We have implemented security measures and contitelsded to protect our IT infrastructure, data centers and other systems and date
against cybenttacks. Despite our implementation of security measures and controls, our systems and those of third parties upon
whom we rely are vulnerable to attack froommerous threat actors, including sophisticated nattate and natiestatesupported

actors. Threat actors have and may in the future be able to compromise our security measures or otherwise explotiesiinerabili

our systems, including vulnerabiég that may have been introduced through the actions of our employees or contractors or defects i
the design or manufacture of our products and systems or the products and systems that we procure from third parteasQOur sys
and those of our thirgatty providers, have and could in the future become subject to-eyiaeks, including using computer viruses,
credential harvesting, dedicated denial of services attacks, malware, social engineering, and other means for obtaimizgdinaut
access to, adisrupting the operation of, our systems and those of ourphiry providers.

The number and scale of cyberattacks have continued to increase and the methods and techniques used by threat agtors, includi
sophisticahaidnds abpptoevklseatacapithpgadienAs a result, we may be unable to identify current attacks,
anticipate future attacks or implement adequate security measures. We may also experience security breaches that may remain
undetected for an extended period and, foeee have a greater impact on our systems, our products, the proprietary data contained
therein, our customers and ultimately, our business.

These events, and any related operational disruptions, unauthorized access, or misappropriation of infoohualiiog fiersonally
identifiable information or personal data), could create costly litigation, significant financial liability, and a los§iddrze in our
ability to serve customers and cause current or potential customers to choose another gltafiddrich could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, reputation, and results of operations.

We are subject to laws and regulations governing the protection of personally identifiable information. A failure to coritply w
applicable privacy or data protection laws could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We collect, process, transmit, and/or store (on our systems and those-pathyrdroviders) customer transactional data, as well as

their and our customersd6 and employeesd personal | y niifidbeent i f
information is increasingly subject to legislation and regulations in numerous jurisdictions with regard to prividetya aedurity
such as such as the California Consumer Privacy Act aatd th

constitutes personally identifiable information and what other data and/or information is subject to the gnisa@ries by

jurisdiction and continues to evolve, and the laws that do reference data privacy continue to be interpreted by thet tbeints an
applicability and reach are therefore uncertain. Our failure and/or the failure of our customers, veddansji@a providers to

comply with applicable privacy and data protection laws and regulations could damage our reputation, discourage current and/o
potential customers from using our products and services, and result in fines, governmental investighitioesforcement actions,
complaints by private individuals, and/or the payment of penalties to consumers.

Actual or perceived security vulnerabilities in our software products may result in reduced sales or liabilities.

Our software may be used in ceation with processing personal data and other sensitive data (e.g., credit card numbers). It may be
possible for the data to be compromised if our customer does not maintain appropriate security procedures. In thosthmstances
customer may attempt ek damages from us. While we believe that all of our current software complies with applicable industry
security requirements and that we take appropriate measures to reduce the possibility of breach through our development and
implementation processes,e cannot assure that our customersdé systems wi
software can be prevented. If a customer, or any other person, seeks redress from us as a result of a security sefiskae, our

our business add be adversely affected.

We may not be able to enforce or protect our intellectual property rights.
We rely on a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure to pristéattaat
propertyrights. We cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology. Any failure to

protect our intellectual property rights would diminish or eliminate the competitive advantages that we derive fromietargropr
technology.
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We may be subject to claims of infringement of thipdrty intellectual property rights.

Third parties may assert claims that our software or technology infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate théiraintellec
property or other proprietarights. Such claims may be made by our competitors seeking to obtain a competitive advantage or by
other parties. The risk of claims may increase as the number of software products that we offer and competitors in ingreasket
and overlaps occuAny such claims, regardless of merit, that result in litigation could result in substantial expenses, divert the
attention of management, cause significant delays in introducing new or enhanced services or technology, materiaily disrupt t
conduct of oubusiness, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

While we do not believe that our products and services infringe any patents or other intellectual property rights, footimtnee
receiveclaims that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of others. For example, on April 6, 2012, Ameranth, &c. filed
complaint against us in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California, alleging that certain of ousjpméréug

patents owned by Ameranth directed to configuring and transmitting hospitality menus (e.g., restaurant menus) for display on
electronic devices, and synchronizing the menu content between the devices. Although on May 11, 2022, judgementhi@s entere
us and against Ameranth on all claims in that suit, Ameranth has pending appeals that may affect the judgement.

I f we fail to meet our customersd performance expectations
liability.

Our ability to attract and retain customers depends to a large extent on our relationships with our customers and our rephidgition fo
quality services and solutions. As a result, if a customer is not satisfied with our products and services, our repytagion m

damaged. Moreover, if we fail to meet our customersdé perfo
breaches or other quality issues, we may lose customers and be subject to legal liability, particularly if such fadardisseptions
or breaches adversely impact our customersd businesses.
I n addition, many of our projects are critical toinclulee oper

provisions designed to limit our exposure to legalms relating to our products and services, these provisions may not adequately
protect us or may not be enforceable in all cases. The general liability insurance coverage that we maintain, incladjagarover
errors and omissions, is subject to impat exclusions and limitations. We cannot be certain that this coverage will continue to be
available on reasonable terms or will be available in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or tharthélinstr
disclaim coverage as tmgafuture claim. A successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds our available
insurance coverage or changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large dexuctible or
insurance requiremegitcould adversely affect our profitability.

Risks Relating to the Industries We Serve

Our business depends to a significant degree on the hospitality industry and instability and downturns in the hospitalgyrynd
could adversely affect our business @results of operations.

Because our customer base is concentrated in the hospitality industry, our business and sales are largely dependsttit oh the he
that industry, which in turn is dependent on the domestic and international economy. Instabiitiesturns in the hospitality
industry, such as those resulting from the impact of COWDas discussed above, could disproportionately impact our revenue, as
customers may exit the industry or delay, cancel or reduce planned expenditures foruats pFadt additional information regarding
the potential impactof COVIL 9 on our GCQOWDI9 lasalversayérgpactid our business and may further impact our
business, financial results and liquidity for an unknown period oftimea b o v dtionfl mformationd

Consolidation in the gaming and other hospitality industries could adversely affect our business.

Customers that we serve may seek to achieve economies of scale and other synergies by combining with or acquiring other
companies. The hospitality industry has experienced recent consolidations, including the hotel and gaming sectorsstif/the indu
Although recent consolidations in the hospitality industry have not materially adversely affected our business, thesarsne a

that future consolidations will not have such affect. For example, if one of our current customers merges or consdlidates wit
company that relies on another provider ds pr od wduttsorsemwices er v
from us, which could have an adverse effect on our business.

Insolvencies in the hospitality industry could adversely affect our business.

Customers that we serve may be or become insolvent. Most of our customers have been sigaiffeziatyby the COVIEL9
pandemic. Loss of revenue and other operating challenges may cause some of our customers to declare bankruptcy or cause their
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lenders to declare a default, accelerate the related debt, or foreclose on their property. Custami@gitcyomay not have
sufficient assets to pay us unpaid fees or reimbursements we are owed under their agreements with us. If a significaint number
customers file for bankruptcy or otherwise fail to pay amounts owed to us, our revenues and liquidliibe aaversely affected.

Risks Relating to Our Finances and Capital Structure
If we acquire new businesses, we may not be able to successfully integrate them or attain the anticipated benefits.

As part of our operating history and growth strategy, wes fequired other businesses. In the future, we may continue to seek
acquisitions. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to identify and acquire targeted businesses or obtgifofisacicin
acquisitions on satisfactory terms. The processtefjrating acquired businesses into our operations may result in unforeseen
difficulties and may require a disproportionate amount of resources and management attention. If integration of our acquired
businesses is not successful, we may not realizeotie@tpal benefits of an acquisition or suffer other adverse effects.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities.

Some of our products and services may be subject to sales taxes in states where we have not collected and resmigteliauch t

our customers. We have reserves for certain state sales tax contingencies based on the likelihood of obligation. Heesgesontin
are includeduirnefidtheabhbntiesd in our Consol idyadcmret foBlEs$ean c
contingencies. In the event that actual results differ from these reserves, we may need to make adjustments, whichialyld mate
impact our financial condition and results of operations.

We may incur goodwill and intangible assehpairment charges that adversely affect our operating results.

As of March 31, 2022, we had $32.8 million and $20.2 million of goodwill and intangible assets, net, respectively, on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We review our goodwill and intangiblis &msienpairment on at least an annual basis. As of March

31, 2020, we determined the net realizable value of intangible assets consisting of capitalized software developmecitasts fo
solutions within our rGuest suite of products no longer exadéukir carrying value, and as a result, recordegcash impairment
charges of $22.0 million. The impact of the COVIB pandemic on the hospitality industry resulted in significantly lower sales and
cash flow projections for the related rGuest solgionaf t er evaluating the Companyo6s stra
costs to support the software. As a result, we recorded impairment charges to reduce the net realizable value obdsetelated

zero. Our future operating results and tharket price of our common stock could be materially adversely affected if we are required
to write down the carrying value of goodwill or other intangible assets in the future.

We have incurred losses in recent years, and we may continue to incur lassies future.

We have incurred operating losses in recent years, and we may continue to incur losses in the future as we continneotar invest
products. Our lack of consistent profitability limits the resources available to us to invest in deve@pipgducts, product
upgrades and services and otherwise in improving business operations.

Our stock has been volatile and we expect that it will continue to be volatile.

Our stock price has been volatile, and we expect it will continue volb&le. For example, during the year ended M&th2022,

the trading price of our common stock ranged from a high close of $58.45 to a low close of $35.31. The market pricariar@ur ¢
stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to misijactors listed in this section, and others beyond our control.
Factors affecting the trading price of our common stock may include:

1 uncertainties the COVIEL9 pandemic has caused for the global economy;

1 economic news or other events generally caugihatility in the trading markets;

1 our operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period dr failure o
securities analysts to publish reports about us or our business;

1 announcements by us or aiompetitors of acquisitions, new offerings or improvements, significant contracts, commercial

relationships or capital commitments;

our ability to market new and enhanced solutions on a timely basis; and

any major change in our board or management; geaesalomic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates,

fuel prices, international currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism.

= =4
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On May 22, 2020, we sold $35 million of preferred stock with a 5.25% cumulative dividend and convedibtanimon stock at a
conversion price of $20.1676 per share. Dilution upon the conversion of the preferred stock in the future may negattéig impa
price of our common stock.

Additionally, our ownership base has been and may continue to be corextitratfew shareholders, which could increase the
volatility of our common share price over time.

We may encounter risks associated with maintaining large cash balances.

While we have attempted to invest our cash balances in investments we considereslativiely safe, we nevertheless confront
credit and liquidity risks. Bank failures could result in reduced liquidity or the actual loss of money held in deposit dcecess
of federally insured amounts, if any.

Other Risk Factors
We aresubiject to litigation, which may be costly.

As a company that does business with many customers, employees and suppliers, we are subject to litigation. Thecalkesults of su
litigation are difficult to predict, and we may incur significant legal expenses/ituch claim were filed. While we generally take
steps to reduce the likelihood that disputes will result in litigation, litigation is very commonplace and could havesanragaet

on our business.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteahcontrols, we may not be able to detect fraud, which could have a material
adverse impact on our business.

While we believe our internal control over financial reporting is effective, a controls system cannot provide absolatedhatitae
objectives of the controls system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

Our caporate headquarters are located in Alpharetta, Georgia where we lease approximately 33,000 square feet of office space. Ir
addition, we lease approximately 33,000 square feet of office space in Las Vegas, Nevada, 30,000 square feet of affice space
Bellevue, Washington, of which we sublease 22,000 square feet to a third party, 5,000 square feet of office space in Sgnta Barbar
California, and 6,000 square feet of warehouse space in Roswell, Georgia. Internationally, we lease approximately Hi#f@e0 squ

of office space in Chennai, India, 7,000 square feet in Toronto, Canada, and lease several other smaller office loagtions thr
Europe and Asia. Our major leases contain renewal options for periods of up to 10 years. We believe that dacititie®aind

office space are sufficient to meet our needs and do not anticipate any difficulty securing additional space as needed.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. It ismiba opmanagement that the resolution of
any current pending litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

On April 6, 2012, Ameranth, Inc. filed a complaint against us in the U.S. District Cotinef&outhern District of California alleging

that certain of our products infringe patents owned by Ameranth directed to configuring and transmitting hospitality.gignus (e
restaurant menus) for display on electronic devices, and synchronizing theoméent between devices. The case against us was
consolidated with similar cases brought by Ameranth against more than 30 other defendants. All but one of the pateirtgta issu
case were invalidated by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federalt@ir@016. In September 2018, the District Court found the

one surviving Ameranth patent invalid and granted summary judgment in favor of the medaf¢dants. This judgment was

affirmed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in Nove2®&9 with respect to all claims except for two, which were
not asserted against Agilysys, and Ameranthoés writ @mh cert
December 2021, the District eCadditoral cldimsagamnst the\defendamts. infMarsh 2022, thé o n
District Court granted summary judgment in favor of the defendants still facing the remaining claims. Subsequently, Ameranth
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appealed the grant of summary judgment with the U.S. Court ofaédpfm the Federal Circuilthough on May 11, 2022,

judgement was entered for us and against Ameranth on all claims in that suit, Ameranth has pending appeals that may affect th
judgement.

At this time, we are not able to predict the outcome of Ambréns pendi ng appeal on their cl ai:!l
exposure associated with the lawsuit. However, we dispute the allegations of wrongdoing and are vigorously defendisgrourselve
this matter.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not appicable.
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Part 11
ltem5. Mar ket for Regi st r Related SharéholdenMatters Brgl issuePurchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common shares, without par value, are traded on the NA
2022, there were 1,343 registered holders of our common shares, without par value.

Dividends

We did not pay dividends in fiscaD22 or 2021 on our common stock and are unlikely to do so in the foreseeable future. We pay
preferred stock dividends as described in Note 14, Preferred Stock, to our Consolidated Financial Statements und#ritem 8 of
Annual Report. The current praadi of the Board of Directors is to retain any available earnings for use in the operations and growth
of our business, both organically and through acquisitions.

Shareholder Return Performance Presentation

The following chart compares the value of $100ested in our common shares, including reinvestment of dividends, with a similar

i nvestment in the Russel!/l 2000 I ndex (the #ARuGomputedIntedrat€d0 o )
Systems Design for the period March 31, 20X@ugh March 31, 2022. The stock price performance in this graph is not necessarily

indicative of the future performance of our common shares.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
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Fiscal Years Ended March 31,

BasePerioc
Company Name / Index 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Agilysys, Inc. $ 100.0¢ $ 126.1: $ 224.0. $ 176.7: $ 507.5. $ 422.0:
Russell 2000 $ 100.0C¢ $ 111.7¢ $ 114.0¢ $ 86.7: $ 168.9¢t $ 159.1¢
Peer Group $ 100.0¢ $ 115.6: $ 120.3( $ 115.4¢ $ 151.2. $ 164.8¢
This performance graph shall not be deemed fAfil edo fdedror pur

incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of the Exchange At shatidps
expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

ltem 6. [Reserved]
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Il tem 7. Management sé Discussion and Analysis of Financi al

I n AManagement 6s Discussion anduAbhal pé§i ©Opef aFi oasoi 4 A MO&AG
general financial condition and results of operations for Agilysys and subsidiaries including:

what factors affect our business;

what our earnings and costs were;

why thoseearnings and costs were different from the year before;
where the earnings came from;

how our financial condition was affected; and

where the cash will come from to fund future operations.

Qx Ox Ox Ox Ox Ox

The MD&A analyzes changes in specific line itenthénConsolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows and provides information that management believes is important to assessing and understanding our consolidated
financial condition and results of operations. This discusstwould be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial

Statements and related Notes that appear in |Item 8 afod this
Information provided in the MD&A may include forwaabking stdaements that involve risks and uncertainties. Many factors could

cause actual results to be materially different from those contained inthe felward k i ng st at e méaoking. See ¥
I nformationo on page 3 of thier Aoaniuml PRepokrtofantdhi ¢ emnniiald

concerning these items. Management believes that this information, discussion, and disclosure is important in makisgatieaision
investing in Agilysys.

Overview
Recent Developments

COVID-19 Pandemic

The World Health Organization declared COVIDB a pandemic on March 11, 2020. COVID has had a significant impact on our
business during the year ended MaBdh 2022 The extent to which COVIEL9 will continue impacting our financial condition and

resuts of operations remains uncertain and depends on various factors, including the ongoing or recurring impact on ouy customers
partners, and suppliers and on the operation of the global markets in general. Because an increasing portion of asibhssthess

a subscription model, the effect of COVI® on our results of operations may also not be fully reflected for some time.

While we have previously taken certain cost reduction measures, we may take further actions that alter our businessnoperation
response to changes in the global environment. As a result, the ultimate impact of the CXPADdemic and the effects of the
operational alterations we have made in response on our business, financial condition, liquidity, and financial reduies cann
predicted at this time.

Our Business

Agilysys has been a leader in hospitality software for more than 40 years, delivering innovativeatieei®aaS and euremise
guestcentric technology solutions for gaming, hotels, resorts and cruise, derfmreservice management, restaurants, universities,
stadiums and healthcare. Agilysys offers the most comprehensive software solutions in the industry, incluehfiggdei(POS),
property management (PMS), inventory and procurement, payments, aed gghplications, to manage the entire guest journey.
Agilysys is also known for its world class custoreentric service. During recent years, Agilysys has made major investments in
R&D and has successfully modernized virtually all its longstandingetiustftware solutions. Some of the largest hospitality
companies around the world use Agilysys solutions to help improve guest loyalty, drive revenue growth and increasel operationa
efficiencies.

The Company has just one reportable segment serving tha blodpitality industry. Agilysys operates across North America,
Europe, AsiaPacific, and India with headquarters located in Alpharetta, Georgia.

Our top priority is increasing shareholder value by improving operating and financial performance aalolypmfitving the business
through superior products and services. To that end, we expect to invest a certain portion of our cash on hand to @mdréatianc
existing software products, to develop and market new software products, and to expandmardirsadth, both vertically and
geographically.

Our strategic plan specifically focuses on:
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Putting the customer first

Focusing on product innovation and development

Improving our liquidity

Increasing organizational efficiency and teamwork

Developing our employees and leaders

Growing revenue by improving the breadth and depth of our product set across betif-palatand property management
applications

A Growing revenue through international expansion

Too To Jo T T I

The primary objective of our ongoingrategic planning process is to create shareholder value by capitalizing on growth opportunities
increasing profitability and strengthening our competitive position within the specific technology solutions and endvearieis.
Profitability and indusy leading growth will be achieved through tighter management of operating expenses and sharpening the foc
of our investments to concentrate on growth opportunities that offer the highest returns.

Revenuei Defined

As required by the SEC, we separafgigsent revenue earned as products revenue, support, maintenance and subscription services
revenue or professional services revenue in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. In addition to the SEC reqeine@gnts, w
at times, also refer to revenue @efined below. The terminology, definitions, and applications of terms we use to describe our
revenue may be different from those used by other companies and caution should be used when comparing these finarscial measu
those of other companies. Wseuthe following terms to describe revenue:

A Revenud We present revenue net of sales returns and allowances.

A Products reventie Revenue earned from the sales of software licenses, third party hardware and operating systems.

A Supportmaintenance and subscription services revérRevenue earned from the sale of proprietary and remarketed
ongoing support, maintenance and subscription services.

A Professional services reveriu®evenue earned from the delivery of implementation, integraind installation services for

proprietary and remarketed products.
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Results of Operations
Fiscal 2022Compared with FiscaR021

Net Revenue and Operating Income (Loss)

The following table presents our consolidated revenue and operating results fecahedars ended Mar@1, 2022 and 2021

Year ended March 31,

Increase (decrease)

(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %

Net revenue:

Products 35,95¢ $ 26,71 9,24: 34.€%

Support, maintenance and subscription services 98,95¢ 88,56¢ 10,39 11.7%

Professional services 27,72: 21,891 5,82¢ 26.€%
Total net revenue 162,63t 137,17¢ 25,46( 18.6%

Cost of goods sold:

Products 19,25 13,50¢ 5,74t 42.5%

Support, maintenance and subscription services 21,14 17,98t 3,15¢ 17.5%

Professional services 20,71 16,30¢ 4,40z 27.(%
Total cost of goods sold 61,10 47,80( 13,30« 27.8%

Gross profit 101,538: $ 89,37¢ 12,15¢ 13.6%

Gross profit margin 62.2% 65.2%

Operating expenses:

Product development 46,33 $ 55,34t (9,019 (16.9%

Sales and marketing 14,73( 14,19¢ 534 3.8%

General and administrative 27,73¢ 33,27: (5,539 (16.6%

Depreciation of fixed assets 2,21( 2,832 (622) (22.0%

Amortization of internalise software and intangibles 1,65¢ 1,95¢ (305) (15.6%

Severance and other charges 1,58¢ 2,52¢ (945) (37.9)%

Legal settlements 96¢ 20C 76¢ nm
Operating income (loss) 6,31¢ $ (20,959 27,27 nm
Operating income (loss) percentage 3.£% (15.9%

nm - not meaningful
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The following table presents the percentage relationship of our Consolidated Statement of Operations line items tddatedonsol
net revenues for the periods presented:

Year ended March 31,

2022 2021

Netrevenue:
Products 22.1% 19.5%
Support, maintenance and subscription services 60.¢& 64.€
Professional services 17.1 15.¢

Total net revenue 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of goods sold:
Products 11.8% 9.8%
Support, maintenance and subscription services 13.C 13.1
Professional services 12.¢ 11.¢

Total net cost of goods sold 37.6% 34.8%
Gross profit 62.4% 65.2%
Operating expenses:
Product development 28.4% 40.2%
Sales and marketing 9.1 10.:
General and administrative 17.1 24.¢
Depreciation of fixed assets 1.4 2.1
Amortization of internaluse software and intangibles 1.C 1.4
Severance and other charges 1.C 1.8
Legalsettlements 0.5 0.1

Operating income (loss) 3.% (15.9%

Net revenueTotal revenue increased $25.5 million, or 18.6%, in fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021. Products revenue increased $
million, or 34.6%, due to higher sales and deliveries as our custorrgpemeheir locations for business. Support, maintenance and
subscription services revenue increased $10.4 million, or 11.7%, driven by continued growth in subbasdgtibrevenue, which
increased 28.0% in fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021. Professional services revenue increased $5.8 million, or 26t6&bhedue t
sales and service activity as our customers shift their focus to implementing technology to improve their operations.

Gross profit and gross profit margi@ur total gross profit increased $12.2 million, or 13.6%, in fiscal 2022 and total gross profit
margin decreased from 65.2% to 62.4%. Products gross profit increased $3.5 million and gross profit margin decreast flom 49.
46.5% due to a higher propian of third-party products over proprietary software revenue. Support, maintenance and subscription
services gross profit increased $7.2 million and gross profit margin decreased from 79.7% to 78.6% as certain vaiiatrkasests
ahead of related venue. Professional services gross profit increased $1.4 million and gross profit margin decreased slightly from
25.5% to 25.3% due to continued hiring and training of new staff to meet increasing project backlogs from ongoing #plasdictiv
certain poject delays.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses, excluding the charges for legal settlements, severance and other charges, decreased $14.9 &8#liam, or 13.
fiscal 2022 compared with fiscal 2021. As a percent of total revenue, operating expeesgsdi@ased 21.5% in fiscal 2022
compared with fiscal 2021.

Product developmen®roduct development includes all expenses associated with research and development. Product development
decreased $9.0 million, or 16.3%, during fiscal 2022 as comparext#d #021 due to an increase of $4.4 million in payroll and other
operating expenses as we continue to manage market compensation pressures offset by a decrehssdad sltan@ensation

expense of $13.4 million due to significant charges resulting &weelerated vesting of stoskettled appreciation rights (SSARS)

upon their market condition satisfaction in February 2021.
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Sales and marketin@ales and marketing increased $0.5 million, or 3.8%, in fiscal 2022 compared with fiscal 2021 due to a&n increa:
of $3.4 million in payroll, travel, advertising, promotion and other operating expenses as we invest in our sales and tearksti

and return to travel for #person selling and increased marketing event and trade show activity offset by a deckasbased
compensation expense of $2.9 million due to significant charges resulting from the accelerated vesting of SSARs updetheir ma
condition satisfaction in February 2021.

General and administrativé&seneral and administrative decreased $5/bomj or 16.6%, in fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021 due
to an increase of $3.7 million in payroll and other expenses after restoring base pay, employee benefits and varig# operatio
activities offset by a decrease in shhesed compensation expemge9.2 million due to significant charges resulting from the
accelerated vesting of SSARs upon their market condition satisfaction in February 2021.

Depreciation of fixed asset®epreciation of fixed assets decreased $0.6 million or 22.0% in fiscalea0@2mpared to fiscal 2021
due to an increased level of assets with shorter useful lives.

Amortization of internalise software and intangible&mortization of internalise software and intangibles decreased $0.3 million or
15.6% in fiscal 2022 as compal to fiscal 2021 due to a lower unamortized cost base following the impairment of intangibles in fiscal
2020.

Severance and other charg&everance and other charges decreased $0.9 million due to a significant reduction in employee
terminations during fical 2022 compared to fiscal 2021.

Legal settlementd.egal settlements increased $0.8 million during fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021 due to an increase in
settlements of employment and other businmetsted matters.

Other (Income) Expenses

Year ended March 31, (Unfavorable) favorable
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Other (income) expense:
Interest (income) $ (59 $ (107 $ (48) 44.%%
Interest expense 12 2C 8 40.(%
Other (income) expense, net (145) 33¢ 482 nm
Total other (income) expense, net $ (192) $ 251 $ 442 nm

nmi not meaningful

Interest incomelnterest income consists of interest earned on cash equivalents includireghartvestments in commercial paper,
treasury bills and money market funds.

Interest expensénterest expense consists of costs associated with finance leases.

Other expensanet.Other expense, net consists mainly of the impact of foreign currency due to movement of European and Asian
currencies against the US dollar.

Income Taxes

Year ended March 31, (Unfavorable) favorable
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 33 % (20¢) $ (241) nm
Effective tax rate 0.5% 1.C%

nmi not meaningful
For fiscal 2022, the effective tax rate was different than the statutory rate due primarily to adjustments to defesetd taglading

increases in valuation allowances that reduce deferred tax assets and to the recordingeadtiveg lmsses in a number of foreign
jurisdictions offset by current year expense in other foreign jurisdictions.
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Although the timing and outcome of tax settlements are uncertain, it is reasonably possible that during the next 12 months an
immaterial redation in unrecognized tax benefits may occur as a result of the expiration of various statutes of limitations. We are
consistently subject to tax audits; due to the nature of examinations in multiple jurisdictions, changes could ocaupimttf a

gross unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months which cannot be estimated at this time.

The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on the generation of future taxable income during the periotisasewhic
temporary differences are detdible. Because of our losses in prior periods, management believes that it-ikelprinannot that

we will not realize the benefits of these deductible differences and have recorded a valuation allowance substantiiadjyoaffset
deferred tax asgs. At March31, 2022, we had $196.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in
fiscal years 2031 to 2038, and $42.8 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that can be carried forwaelyntlééni
alsohad $166.8 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in fiscal years 2023 through 2041.

Fiscal 2021Compared to Fisca2020
Net Revenue and Operating Loss

The following table presents our consolidated revenue and opemdinigsrfor the fiscal years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:

Year ended March 31, Increase (decrease)
(Dollars in thousands) 2021 2020 $ %
Net revenue:
Products $ 26,71 $ 44,23 $ (17,519 (39.6%
Support, maintenance and subscription services 88,56 83,68( 4,88~ 5.8%
Professional services 21,89 32,84’ (10,950 (33.9%
Total net revenue 137,17t 160,75 (23,58)) (14.7%
Cost of goods sold:
Products, inclusive of developed technology amortization 13,50¢ 36,42’ (22,92) (62.9%
Support, maintenance and subscription services 17,98¢ 19,24¢ (1,269 (6.€)%
Professional services 16,30¢ 24,13( (7,821 (32.9)%
Total cost of goods sold 47,80( 79,80¢ (32,009 (40.1)%
Gross profit $ 8937t $ 80,95 $ 8,42¢ 10.4%
Gross profit margin 65.2% 50.4%
Operating expenses:
Product development $ 5534 $ 41,46 $ 13,88 33.5%
Sales and marketing 14,19¢ 19,86¢ (5,669 (28.5%
General and administrative 33,27! 24,37 8,89¢ 36.5%
Depreciation of fixed assets 2,83: 2,57¢ 25¢ 10.(%
Amortization of internalise software and intangibles 1,95¢ 2,541 (582) (22.9%
Impairments o} 23,74( (23,740 (200.0%
Severance and other charges 2,52¢ 582 1,945 334.5%
Legal settlements 20C (1285 328 (260.0%
Operating loss $ (20959 $ (34,06) $ 13,10: (38.5%
Operating loss percentage (15.9% (21.9%
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The following table presents the percentage relationship of our Consolidated Statement of Operations line items tddatedonsol
net revenues for the periods presented:

Year ended March 31,

2021 2020
Net revenue:
Products 19.5% 27.5%
Support, maintenance and subscription services 64.€ 52.1
Professional services 15.¢ 20.4
Total net revenue 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of goods sold:
Products, inclusive of developed technology amortization 9.8% 22.%
Support, maintenance and subscription services 13.1 12.C
Professional services 11.¢ 15.C
Total cost of goods sold 34.8% 49.6%
Gross profit 65.2% 50.2%
Operating expenses:
Product development 40.4% 25.8%
Sales and marketing 10.2 12.4
General and administrative 24.4 15.2
Depreciation of fixed assets 2.1 1.€
Amortization of internalise software and intangibles 14 1.€
Severance and other charges 1.8 0.4
Legalsettlements 0.1 (0.7
Operating loss (15.9% (21.2%

Net revenueTotal revenue decreased $23.6 million, or 14.7%, in fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020. Products revenue decreased
$17.5 million, or 39.6%, due to delayed customer purchasing decisions as the timing of the hospitality recovery fromRREICOVI
pandemic emained unclear during fiscal 2021. Support, maintenance and subscription services revenue increased $4.9 million, or
5.8%, driven by continued growth in subscriptimmsed revenue, which increased 15.5% in fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020.
Subscriptiorrevenue sales were led by our add on software modules, including modules enabling social distancing and contactless
capabilities. Professional services revenue decreased $11.0 million, or 33.3%, due to delays in implementation sesvices due t
customer prperty restrictions, property closures and lower sales from delayed customer purchasing decisions as the timing of the
hospitality recovery from the COVHR9 pandemic remained unclear.

Gross profit and gross profit margi@ur total gross profit increas&®.4 million, or 10.4%, in fiscal 2021 and total gross profit
margin increased from 50.4% to 65.2%. Products gross profit increased $5.4 million and gross profit margin increasédrnom 17.
49.4% driven mostly by the absence of software developmenamstization during fiscal 2021. Support, maintenance and
subscription services gross profit increased $6.1 million and gross profit margin increased 269 basis points to 79iiétedise do
subscription revenue on a relatively flat cost base. Profeasservices gross profit decreased $3.1 million and gross profit margin
decreased slightly from 26.5% to 25.5% due to the delay in professional service projects and the fixed costs of maintaining a
minimum required professional services team as custarnatgued to work towards f@oening their locations and accept
implementations and installations.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses, excluding the charges for legal settlements, impairments, severance and other charges, incredlged 606.8 mi
18.5%, in fiscal 2021 compared with fiscal 2020. As a percent of total revenue, operating expenses have increased @2.0% in fis
2021 compared with fiscal 2020.

Product developmen®roduct development includes all expenses associated with researchelpgrdent. Product development
increased $13.9 million, or 33.5%, during fiscal 2021 as compared to fiscal 2020 due to the continued expansion of aundk&D te
and significant sharbased compensation charges resulting from the accelerated vesting «fetttmtkappreciation rights (SSARS)
upon their market condition satisfaction in February 2021.
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Sales and marketinGales and marketing decreased $Bilfion, or 28.5%, in fiscal 2021 compared with fiscal 2020 due to reduced
commission expense as a result of lower sales levels, significantly reduced travel, layoffs, temporary reductions inbemefitgee
and the absence of-person trade shows andnference activity. The decrease was slightly offset by an increase irbsised
compensation charges resulting from the accelerated vesting of SSARs.

General and administrativé&seneral and administrative increased $9.0 million, or 37.0%, in fis@dl @mpared to fiscal 2020. The
change is due primarily to significant shdr@sed compensation charges resulting from the accelerated vesting of SSARs.

Depreciation of fixed asset®epreciation of fixed assets increased $0.3 million or 10.0% in fis@dl @0 compared to fiscal 2020
due to an increased level of assets with shorter useful lives.

Amortization of internalise software and intangible&mortization of internalise software and intangibles decreased $0.6 million or
22.9% in fiscal 2021 as coraped to fiscal 2020 due to a lower unamortized cost base following the impairment of intangibles in fisca
2020.

ImpairmentsThere were no impairments in fiscal 2021. Impairments totaled $23.7 million in fiscal 2020. The impairments resulted
from specificcapitalized software development costs supporting certain software applications. The impact of thelG@ahdemic

on the hospitality industry resulted in economic conditions that made it difficult to project future sales and revenedygoctina

i mpacted solutions at the time of impairment determidhati on
continued costs to support the software, an impairment charge was required. We recorded impairment charges to reduce the net
realzable value of the related assets to zero during the 2020 fiscal year.

Severance and other charg&everance and other charges increased $1.9 million due to an increasedstnanuring severance
activity during fiscal 2021 compared to fiscal 2020.

Legal settlementsd.egal settlements consist of settlements of employment and other busilatésd matters.

Other (Income) Expenses

Year ended March 31, (Unfavorable) favorable
(Dollars in thousands) 2021 202 $ %
Other (income) expense:
Interest (income) $ (107 (380) $ (273) (71.9%
Interest expense 2C 9 % (11) nm
Other expense, net 33¢ 17€ (162) (92.0%
Total other expense (income), net $ 251 $ (195 $ (44¢€) nm

nmi not meaningful

Interest incomelnterest income consists of interest earned on-4hort investments in commercial paper, money market funds and
interestbearing bank accounts.

Interest expensénterest expense consists of costs associated with finance leases.

Other expense, néDthe expense, net consists mainly of the impact of foreign currency due to movement of European and Asian
currencies against the US dollar.

Income Taxes

Year ended March 31, (Unfavorable) favorable
(Dollars in thousands) 2021 202( $ %
Income tax (benefit) expense $ (208) % 201 $ 40¢ nm
Effective tax rate 1.C% (0.6%

nmi notmeaningful
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For fiscal 2021, the effective tax rate was different than the statutory rate due primarily to adjustments to defesetd taglading
increases in valuation allowances that reduce deferred tax assets and to the recording of net operatingiossesr iofdoreign
jurisdictions offset by current year expense in other foreign jurisdictions.

Because of our losses in prior periods, we have recorded a valuation allowance offsetting substantially all of oundefesetd.t

The ultimate realizatioonf deferred tax assets depends on the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences are deductible. Because of our losses in prior periods, management believes thatikely #f@enot that

we will not realize the benefits of these deductible differences. At March 31, 2021, we had $199.1 million of federal net operating lo
carryforwards that expire, if unused, in fiscal years 2031 to 2038, and $46.8 million of federal net operating lossarasytfatw

can be carried forward indefinitely. We also had $165.6 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that exge,ifrunu

fiscal years 2022 through 2041.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Our cash requirements consist primarily of wogkcapital needs, capital expenditures, payments of preferred stock dividends, and
operating expenses including payments of lease obligations. Our contractual obligations consist primarily of operafiorgoifiases
space and preferred stock dividende disclose our lease obligations in Note 6, Leases, and preferred stock dividends in Note 14,

Preferred Stock, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of this Annual Report.

At March 31, 2022, all $97.0 million of our cash band was deposited in bank accounts, of which 93% are located in the United
States. We believe there is limited credit risk with respect to our cash balances.

We believe that cash flow from operating activities, cash on hand of $97.0 million as of31a2€122, and access to capital markets
will provide adequate funds to meet our sfeort longterm liquidity requirements.

Cash Flow
Year ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021 202(
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 28,478 % 28,407 $ 10,57¢
Investing activities (25,679 (1,397 (3,449
Financing activities (4,900 25,31¢ (1,116
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (109 19t (130
(Decrease) increase in cash $ (2,209 $ 52,527 $ 5,88

Cash flow provided by operating activiti€sash flows provided by operating activities were $28.5 million in fiscal 2022. The
provision of cash was due primarily to our net income of $6.5 million adjusted for $17.7 million-zagbrexpense including
depreciation, amortization, and sharased compensation and an increase of $4.3 million from the changes in operating assets and
liabilities.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $28.4 million in fiscal 2021. The provision of cash was duly poimar
operating loss of $21.0 million adjusted for $44.0 million in4tash expense including depreciation, amortization, and-blasesl
compensation and an increase of approximately $5.4 million from the changes in operating assets and liabilities.

Cash flows provided by operating activities were $10.6 million in fiscal 2020. The provision of cash was due primarily to our
operating loss of $34.1 million adjusted for $46.2 million in4cash expense including impairment charges, depreciation,
amortization, and sharbased compensation and a decrease of approximately $1.5 million in net operating assets and liabilities.

Cash flow used in investing activitigSash flows used in investing activities in fiscal 2022 were $25.7 million due to $24.5nmllio
cash paid for business combinations, net of cash acquired, and $1.2 million in purchases of property and equipmeniterciating
use software.

Cash flows used in investing activities in fiscal 2021 were $1.4 million due primarily to the puotipagperty and equipment,
including internal use software.
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Cash flows used in investing activities in fiscal 2020 were $3.4 million due primarily to the purchase of property anehgéquipm
including internal use software.

Cash flow provided by (used ifinancing activitiesCash flows used in financing activities in fiscal 2022 were $4.9 million and
primarily comprised of share repurchases of $3.0 million to satisfy employee tax withholding ehageteompensation and $1.8
million in preferred stocklividends.

During fiscal 2021, the $25.3 million provided by financing activities consisted primarily of $34.0 million in preferietst@nce
proceeds from the MAK Capital investment, net of issuance costs, offset by $7.5 million for the repurshasesab satisfy
employee tax withholding on shabased compensation and $1.1 million in preferred stock dividends.

Cash flows used in financing activities in fiscal 2020 were $1.1 million and primarily comprised of share repurchasés to sati
employedax withholding on sharbased compensation.

Investments
Investments in Corporat®wned Life Insurance Policies

Agilysys invests in corporatewned life insurance policies for certain former executives, for which some are endorsemdntlaplit

life insurance arrangements. We entered into agreements with each of the former executives, whereby we must rfiigntain the
insurance policy for a specified amount and split a portion of the policy benefits with their designated beneficiangs@ueirin

these corporatewned life insurance policies were recorded at their cash surrender value, which approximadasefairthe balance
sheet date. In the Consolidated Balance Sheets at the balance sheet date, the cash surrender value of $1.0 millr@irfoigthe re
policies were-chiglrce nitn afs@teltesr, 0na@amd t he pr esse retx ewalltu ev ecsfd fduet
beneficiary of $0.1 million, which apgegcruoxiemmat s afbailri tviaelsue
Balance Sheets at the balance sheet date.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered intmy offbalance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect
on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquiditypepiitires,
or capitl resources.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management sd Discussion and Analysis is based upon our Con
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of thesd fitetanients requires us to make
significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expensddasulosiate

of contingent assets and liabilities. We regularly evaluate our estimates, indhmsiegelated to bad debts, inventories, investments,
intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring, contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical axgpernence
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable undictinestances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Our most significant accounting policies relate to the sale, purchase, and proofaiur products and services. The policies

discussed below are considered by management to be critical to an understanding of our Consolidated Financial Stateseents beca
their application places the most ithifingncial fepoctiagmesultdrelyngonds on n
estimation about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Specific risks for these critical accountingrealiEsesitaed in

the following paragraphs.

For all these policies, management cautioas filture events rarely develop exactly as forecasted, and the best estimates routinely
require adjustment.

Revenue recognitio®ur customary business practice is to enter into legally enforceable written contracts with our customers. The
majority of ourcontracts are governed by a master service agreement between us and the customer, which sets forth the general te
and conditions of any individual contract between the parties, which is then supplemented by a customer order to diffginthe
goods and services, the associated prices, and any additional terms for an individual contract. Performance obligaticisesipécific
individual contract are defined within the terms of each order. Each performance obligation is identified based os #melgood
services that will be transferred to our customer that are both capable of being distinct and are distinct within tlod itentext

contract. The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which we will be entitled and egpee o exchange
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for transferring goods or services to the customer. Typically, our contracts do not provide our customer with anytrightoof re
refund; we do not constrain the contract price as it is probable that there will not be a signifisauné meversal due to a return or
refund.

Typically our customer contracts contain one or more of the following goods or services which constitute performanoesbligati

Our software licenses typically provide for a perpetual right to use our softwemmerdlly, our contracts do not provide significant
services of integration and customization and installation services are not required to be purchased directly fromftugar€his so
delivered before related services are provided and is functionaluvithafessional services, updates and technical support. We have
concluded that the software license is distinct as the customer can benefit from the software on its own. Softwaretypvealiye is
recognized when the software is delivered or madeablaifor download to the customer.

Revenue for hardware sales is recognized when the product is shipped to the customer and when obligations that affecttlee cus s
final acceptance of the arrangement have been fulfilled. Hardware is purchased frberssapg provided to the ender customers

via dropship or from inventory. We are responsible for negotiating the price both with the supplier and the customer, payment to thi
supplier, establishing payment terms and product returns with the custachéearing the credit risk if the customer does not pay

for the goods. As the principal contact with the customer, we recognize revenue and cost of goods sold when we asethetified b
supplier that the product has been shipped. In certain limited aestaas shipping terms dictate, revenue is recognized upon receipt at
the point of destination or upon installation at the customer site.

Support and maintenance revenue is derived from providing telephone-and mthnical support services, bug fixasd
unspecified software updates and upgrades to customers on-amhiéravailable basis. These services represent a-statty
obligation that is concurrently delivered and has the same pattern of transfer to the customer; we account for theswlsuppor
maintenance services as a single performance obligation recognized over the term of the maintenance agreement.

Our subscription service revenue is comprised of fees for contracts that provide customers a right to access our software for
subscribegeriod. We do not provide the customer the contractual right to license the software at any time outside of the subscriptic
period under these contracts. The customer can only benefit from the software and software maintenance when provided the righ
access the software. Accordingly, each of the rights to access the software, the maintenance services, and any hesiggatervic
considered a distinct performance obligation in the context of the contract and should be combined into a singlageerforma
obligation to be recognized over the contract period. The Company recognizes subscription revenue awenthqreziod based on

the typical monthly invoicing and renewal cycle in accordance with our customer agreement terms.

Professional servicesvenues primarily consist of fees for consulting, installation, integration and training and are generally
recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the professional serviveseas the se
are being perforen d . Professional services can be provided by intern
ability to access or use other provided goods or services, and provide a measure of benefit beyond that of other padswised goo
servces in the contract. As a result, professional services are considered distinct in the context of the contract and sepeaseat
performance obligation. Professional services that are billed on a time and materials basis are recognized other sieTeicss are
performed. For contracts billed on a fixed price basis, revenue is recognized over time using an input method basedws labor
expended to date relative to the total labor hours expected to be required to satisfy the related peidblipation.

We use the market approach to drive standal one sel lentdyg pri
executed customer contracts) to determine the price customers are willing to pay for the goods and sesfacesitr the contract
contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to that performance obligation tiGairtcattsn
multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to efacmpace obligation based on a relative SSP
basis.

Sharebased compensatioWwe have an equity incentive plan under which we may grantjoafified stock options, incentive stock
options, stocksettled stock appreciation rights, timested restricted shares, restricted share units, performants restricted

shares, and penfimance shares. Shares issued pursuant to awards under this plan may be made out of treasury or authorized but
unissued shares.

We record compensation expense related to stetled stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, and performance shagesb gran

to certain employees and nemployee directors based on the fair value of the awards on the grant date. The fair value of restricted
share grants subject only to a service condition is based on the closing price of our common shares on theFpastatdteption

and stocksettled appreciation right (SSAR) grants subject only to a service condition, we estimate the fair value on the grant date
using the BlackScholesMerton option pricing model with inputs including the closing market price at gete, exercise price and
assumptions regarding the riffke interest rate, expected volatility of our common shares based on historical volatility, and expected
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term as estimated using the simplified method. For restricted share and SSAR grantscsalierket condition, we estimate the
fair value on the grant date through a lattice option pricing model that utilizes a Monte Carlo analysis with inputg itheludiasing
market price at grant date, share price threshold and assumptions redadisigftee interest rate and expected volatility of our
common shares based on historical volatility. Inputs for SSAR grants subject to a market condition also include exercise pric
remaining contractual term, and suboptimal exercise factor. Forfeibfisavards are recognized as they occur. Additional
information regarding the assumptions used to value dized compensation awards is provided in Not&h8reBased
Compensationto our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Adopted andrecently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under Item 8 of thi
Annual Report for additional information about recent accounting pronouncementsyradentied and those not yet effective.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We have assets, liabilities, and cash flows in foreign currencies creating foreign exchange risk. We sell productseand servic
internationally anenter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result, we are subject to the variability that arises
from exchange rate movements. For the fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, revenue from international operations was 9%, 8% and
respectiely of total revenue. The effects of foreign currency on operating results did not have a material impact on our results of
operations for the 2022, 2021 and 2020 fiscal years. Fluctuations in the value of other currencies could materially irepattou
expenses, operating profit and net income.
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Report of Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Agilysys, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Agilysys, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the
ACompanyo) as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the related cons
sharehal er s equity, and cash flows for each of the threeialyeal
statement schedule(s) included under I tem 15(a) ( dimhcialect i v
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2022 andtB@2é&salbsl

of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2022niitycaitto accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(APCAOBO), the Compan yrkial reportingas of March 31,2622, hased orocviteria esfablished in the 2013
Internal Controtintegrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(ACOSO0), and our report duealfiedbpiméay 23, 2022 expressed an u

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility ofthethe C
Companydés financial statements based teyedwiththe PCAQBland ase.requikeel toa r e
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audiin accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the auc
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whetheiod @it error
Our auditsmcluded performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on aviesinoasis, e
regading the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accountingipeiticiples
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statbaiienves. We

that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical audit matters

The critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were cethorunicat
required to be communicated to tadit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial
statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that therécate no cri
audit matters.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

We have served as the Companybés auditor since 2016.

Atlanta, Georgia
May 23, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Agilysys, Inc.

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Agilysys, Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsigiaries (th
ACompanyo) as of March 31, 20 2 2interfalcContratintegmatedcFrameawerissued byethtet a b | i
Commi ttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commi
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2022, based on criteria estahksBédidn

Internal Controtintegrated Frameworkssued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(APCAOBO), the consolidated fi nanc iearkendedMarth&Im2082t aad onrfrepdrtidaed C o
May 23, 2022 expressed an ungualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for opinion

The Companyds management is responsible for mairitgaasessmentgof e f
the effectiveness of internal control over financi aontrolepor
Over Financi al Reporting. Our responsi bil i overfinarcial teportiegoasede s s

on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to th
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules andnegiiléite Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and petfitorm the at
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective intemtial caver financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that eeatezis

exists, testing and evaluating the design aretatng effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing sucl
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for o
opinion.

Our audit of, and opinionoh,he Companyés internal control over financi al
financial reporting of ResortSuite, Inc., a whetlwned subsidiary, whose financial statements reflect total assets and revenues
constituting one percenhd less than one percent, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and fo
the year ended March 31, 2022. As indicated in Management©d
assertionontheeffet i veness of the Companyds internal control over f
reporting of ResortSuite, Inc.

38



Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting

A companyés i nt er am@porting s A process designesl to prbvida reasanable assurance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally@oeeyied a
princi pl es .nterAal cordrohpvarfinaricial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositiorstebfttbass
company; (2) preide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statemen
accordance with generallgccepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only i
accodance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of wunauthorized acaqaralaffect i on
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatemepisjesksons
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that cortydiecome inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
May 23, 2022
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AGILYSYS, INC.

As of March31,

(In thousands, except share data) 2022 2021
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 96,97 $ 99,18(
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses
of $318 and $1,220, respectively 25,17t 25,73:
Contract assets 1,66¢ 2,36¢
Inventories 6,94( 1,17
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,41¢ 4,79
Total current assets 136,17: 133,25(
Property angtquipment, net 6,34¢ 8,78¢
Operating lease righdf-use assets 9,88¢ 12,21(
Goodwill 32,75¢ 19,62:
Intangible assets, net 20,17¢ 8,40(
Deferred income taxes, naurrent 2,664 1,80z
Other norcurrent assets 6,154 5,80(
Total assets $ 214,16: $ 189,87.
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 9,76¢ $ 6,34¢
Contract liabilities 46,09t 38,39
Accrued liabilities 10,55 11,381
Operating lease liabilities, current 5,04¢ 5,00¢
Finance lease obligations, current 4 19
Total current liabilities 71,46¢ 61,15¢
Deferred income taxes, na@urrent 93¢ 92¢
Operating lease liabilities, nerurrent 5,64¢ 8,59
Finance lease obligations, roarrent 2 6
Other norcurrent liabilities 3,304 3,851
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 11)
Series A convertible preferred stock, no par value 35,45¢ 35,45¢
Shareholdergquity:
Common shares, without par value, at $0.30 stated value; 80,000,000
shares authorized; 31,606,831 shares issued; and 24,728,532
and 24,010,727 shares outstanding at March 31, 2022
and March 31, 2021, respectively 9,48 9,48:
Treasury shares, 6,878,299 and 7,596,104 at March 31, 2022
and March 31, 2021, respectively (2,067) (2,27%)
Capital in excess of stated value 49,96: 37,25)
Retained earnings 40,01¢ 35,37¢
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (56) 39
Total shareholders' equity 97,344 79,87¢
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 214,16: $ 189,87:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finasté@éments.
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AGILYSYS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year ended
March31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020
Net revenue:
Products $ 3595 % 26,71  $ 44,23(
Support, maintenance asdbscription services 98,95¢ 88,56¢ 83,68(
Professional services 27,72. 21,897 32,841

Total net revenue 162,63t 137,17¢ 160,75
Cost of goods sold:
Products, inclusive of developed technology amortization 19,25 13,50¢ 36,42°
Support, maintenance and subscription services 21,14: 17,98t 19,24¢
Professional services 20,71: 16,30¢ 24,13(

Total cost of goods sold 61,10« 47,80( 79,80¢
Gross profit 101,53: 89,37¢ 80,95
Gross profit margin 62.2% 65.2% 50.£%6
Operating expenses:
Product development 46,33: 55,34¢ 41,46:
Sales and marketing 14,73( 14,19¢ 19,86¢
General and administrative 27,73¢ 33,27: 24,37
Depreciation of fixed assets 2,21( 2,832 2,57¢
Amortization of internalise software and intangibles 1,65¢ 1,95¢ 2,541
Impairments 3 d 23,74(
Severance and other charges 1,58¢ 2,52¢ 582
Legal settlements 96¢ 20C (125

Total operating expense 95,21 110,33« 115,01
Operating income (loss) 6,31¢ (20,95¢) (34,06
Other (income) expense:
Interest income (59 (207) (380
Interest expense 12 20 9
Other(income) expense, net (145) 33¢ 17¢€
Income (loss) before taxes 6,511 (21,209 (33,86¢)
Income tax expense (benefit) 33 (208 201
Net income (loss) $ 6,47¢  $ (21,00) $ (34,067
SeriesA convertible preferred stock issuance costs ) (1,03)) 3
Series A convertible preferred stock dividends (1,83¢€) (1,576 3
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 464: $ (23,608 $ (34,067
Weighted average shares outstandingbasic 24,35’ 23,45¢ 23,23:
Net income (loss) per share basic: $ 0.1¢ $ (1.0) $ (1.47)
Weighted average shares outstandingdiluted 25,48 23,45¢ 23,23:
Net income (loss) per share diluted: $ 0.1t $ (1.0) $ (1.47)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGILYSYS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Year Ended
March 31,
(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Net income (loss) $ 6,47¢ $ (21,00) $ (34,067
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustments (95) (162) 46C
Total comprehensive incongloss) $ 6,38: % (21,169 $ (33,607

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGILYSYS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended
March 31,
(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Operating activities
Net income (loss) 6,47¢ $ (21,00) $ (34,06)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Impairments d 0 23,74(
Loss (gain) on disposal of property & equipment 19t 44 5)
Depreciation of fixed assets 2,21( 2,83 2,57¢
Amortization of internalise software and intangibles 1,65¢ 1,95¢ 2,541
Amortization of developed technology 0 o} 12,56
Deferred income taxes (925) (959 (356)
Sharebased compensation 14,54¢ 40,09: 5,20¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,551 10,36: (8,974
Contract assets 684 (228) 794
Inventories (5,769 2,74¢ (1,830
Prepaid expense and other current assets (489 (207) 1,54¢
Accounts payable 3,415 (7,016 8,58t
Contract liabilities 4,90z (3,97)) 3,56:
Accrued liabilities 14¢ 1,187 (4,227
Income taxes payable 5C 34C (259
Other changes, net (1,18¢) 2,21¢ (927)
Net cash provided by operating activities 28,47: 28,407 10,57¢
Investing activities
Capital expenditures (2,199 (1,389 (3,420
Cash paid for business combinations, net of cash acquired (24,45Y o] o)
Additional investments in corporatvned life insurance policies (27) (2) (27)
Net cash used in investing activities (25,679 (1,39 (3,447
Financing activities
Preferred stock issuance proceeds, net of issuance costs 0 33,96¢ o)
Payment of preferred stock dividends (1,836 (1,119 o}
Repurchase of common shares to satisfy employegitaikolding (3,046 (7,519 (1,099
Principal payments under lofigrm obligations (29 (29 (24)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (4,907 25,31¢ (1,116
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (109 19t (130
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,209 52,52] 5,88:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 99,18( 46,65 40,77
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 96,97 $ 99,18( 46,65:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AGILYSYS, INC.

CONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERSGO6 EQUI
Capital
Common Shares in Accumulated
Issued In Treasury excess o other
Stated Stated Stated Retained comprehensive

(In thousands, except share data) Shares  value Shares value value earnings income (loss) Total
Balance at March 31, 2019 31,600 $ 9,48. (8,10 $ (2,43) $ 781 $ 93,05. $ (259 $100,62:
Sharebased compensation o] o) o] d 5,682 o) o) 5,682
Restricted shares issued, net o} o) 14C 41 (42) o) o) o)
Shares issued upon exercise of SSAR o} o} 21 (6) o} o} o}
Shares withheld for taxes upon

exercise of SARs or vesting

of restricted shares o] o) (53 (15 (925) o) o) (940
Net loss o} o} o} o} o} (34,067 o} (34,067
Unrealized translatn adjustments 0 o) o) 0 o) o) 46C 46C
Balance at March 31, 2020 31,60 948z (7,997 $ (2,40) $ 5491 $ 58,98 $ 201 $ 71,75
Sharebased compensation o 0 5] 0 40,06¢ 0 0 40,06¢
Restricted shares issued, net o} o} 90 28 (28) o} o} o}
Shares issued upon exercise of SSAR o) o) 467 141 (141) o) o) o)
Shares withheld for taxes upon

exercise of SARs or vesting

of restricted shares 0 o} (156) (46) (8,137 o} o} (8,177
Net loss o} o} o} o} o} (21,009 o} (21,007)
Series A convertible preferred stock
issuance asts (1,03)) (1,032
Series A convertible preferred stock
dividends (1,57¢) (1,57¢)
Unrealized translation adjustments 0 o} o} o) o} o} (162) (162
Balance at March 31, 2021 31,600 $ 948z (7,59¢ $ (2,279 $ 37,251 $ 3537t $ 39 $ 79,87¢
Share-based compensation o) 0 0 0 14,54¢ 0 0 14,54¢
Restricted shares issued, net o) o) 113 34 (34) o) o) o)
Shares issued upon exercise of SSAR o] o) 63€ 19C (290) o) o) o]
Shares withheld for taxes upon

exercise of SARs or vesting

of restricted shares o) o) 32 9) (1,619 o) o) (1,629
Net income o} o} o} o} o} 6,47¢ o} 6,47¢
Series A convertible preferred stock
dividends o} o} o} o} o} (1,83¢6) o} (1,83¢)
Unrealized translation adjustments o] o) o] 0 o] o) (95) (95)
Balance at March 31, 2022 31,600 $ 948z (6879 $ (2,069 $ 49,96 $ 40,01¢ $ (56) $ 97,34

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Table amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1. Nature of Operations

Agilysys has been driving hospitality software innovations for more than 40 years, deliveringnatmedSaaS and goremise ready
guestcentric technology solutions for gaming, hotels, resorts and cruise lines, corporate foodservice managements restaura
universities, stadiums and healthcare. Agilysys offers the most comprehensive software solutions in the hospitalitiniciddsigy,
pointof-sale (POS), property management (PMS), inventory and procurement, payments, and related applicadionge ttihen
entire guest journey. Agilysys is also known for its world class custogereric service and recent investments in research and
development, having modernized virtually all its longstanding trusted software solutions. Some of the largdgty/lampjanies
around the world use Agilysys solutions to help improve guest loyalty, drive revenue growth and increase operatiomna®fficien
Agilysys operates across North America, Europe, the Middle EastPasidic and India with headquarters ltedin Alpharetta,

GA.

The Company has just one reportable segment serving the global hospitality industry.

Reference herein to any particular year or quarter refers to periods within the fiscal year ended March 31. For exalr2p2? fisc
refers to thei§cal year ended Marc3i, 2022.

COVID-19 Pandemic

The World Health Organizati onl 9d¢c laa rpeach dreanv ecl oo rMaamr acvhi riuls, (
significant economic challenges as organizations and governmental authooitied #re world have implemented numerous

measures attempting to contain the spread of CEGM[Pincluding travel restrictions, border closings, sheitgylace orders, and

social distancing requirements. Our customers and vendors have closed or haviseotpglied restrictions at certain sites in

response to the pandemic. Similarly, we have provided remote working arrangements for our employees, limited busiess travel,
canceled or shifted various events to virtual attendance. We have localizeghdemic response to the countries and specific

locations in which we, our customers and our vendors operate.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidationThe consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Agilysys@nd subsidiaries. Investments
in affiliated companies are accounted for by the equity or cost method, as appropriate.-&trmpany accounts have been
eliminated.

Use of estimate®reparation of consolidated financial statements in conforniityWS. generally accepted accounting principles
(AGAAPO) requires management to make estimates and assumpt
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the repooiauts of revenue and expenses during the reported
periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates due to uncertainties, including the impact ofI80OVID

Cash and cash equivalen®e consider all highly liquid investments purchased withragiral maturity from date of acquisition of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Other highly liquid investments considered cash equivalents with no estabitghed
date are fully redeemable on demand (without penalty) with settlement cipatiand accrued interest on the following business day
after instruction to redeem. Cash equivalent investments are readily convertible to cash with no penalty and can ifichtde oért
deposit, commercial paper, treasury bills, money market fand®other investments. As of March 31, 2022, commercial paper cash
equivalents totaled $15 million. We held no commercial paper as of March 31, 2021 or 2020. We determine the fair value of
commercial paper using significant other observable inputs (I¢\mlszd on pricing from independent sources that use quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or other observable inputs including benchmark yields and interest rates.

Allowance for expected credit loss#$e maintain allowances for expecteedit losses for estimated losses resulting from the
inability or unwillingness of our customers to make required payments. We base our expected credit loss model on historical
experience, adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportalalstsoiies help mitigate the associated credit risk we
perform periodic credit evaluations of our customers.
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Customer credit allowanc&Ve maintain allowances for estimated customer credits. Credits are typically due to the timing or amount
of customer invaies processed for specific services, including professional and subscription, and maintenance coverage. In many
cases, there has not been clear or timely communication of the need to adjust coverage or service at a location inndehranee of
invoice fa the associated coverage or service. We will issue a credit after agreeing to the service or coverage adjustmentias reque:
by the customer within the terms of our contract.

Inventories Our inventories are comprised of finished goods. Inventoriedaterisat the lower of cost or net realizable value, net of
related reserves. The cost of inventory is computed using a weg¥eealge method. Our inventory is monitored to ensure

appropriate valuation. Adjustments of inventories to the lower of costtaealizable value, if necessary, are based upon contractual
provisions such as turnover and assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If assumptions about futurendgmand ch:
and/or actual market conditions are less favorable than thgeetpbby management, additional adjustments to inventory valuations
may be required. We provide a reserve for obsolescence, which is calculated based on several factors, including dn analysis o
historical sales of products and the age of the inventarjuahamounts could be different from those estimated.

LeasesWe determine if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. Operating leases are presented-bissRegght ( i RO U 0 )
assets and the corresponding lease liabilities are included in operating lease lialilitient and operating lease liabilitieaon

current on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, net and corresjg@sling liabi
are included in finance lease obligatidnsurrent and nowurrent on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. ROU asseésesp our right

to use the underlying asset, and lease liabilities represent our obligation for lease payments in exchange for thesalitityasset

for the duration of the lease term.

ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencgaterand determined using the present value of the remaining lease
payments over the lease term. We use an incremental borrowing rate based on estimated rate of interest for collatevaiiwed bor
since our leases do not include an implicit interest fBhe estimated incremental borrowing rate considers market data, actual lease
economic environment, and actual lease term at commencement date. The lease term may include options to extend when it is
reasonably certain that we will exercise that optR@U assets include lease payments made in advance, and excludes any incentive:
received or initial direct costs incurred. We recognize lease expense on a-fitraighsis over the lease term and sublease income

on a straightine basis over the subleaterm.

We have lease agreements with lease andaas®e components which we account for as a single lease component. We also have
leases which include variable lease payments, which are expensed as incurred. Our variable lease payments are aotitdesed on
or rate and therefore are excluded from the calculation of lease liabilities. We have elected to not recognize shedséhat leave

a term of twelve months or less as ROU assets or lease liabilities. Outesholéases are not materialdado not have a material
impact on our ROU assets or lease liabilities. Additionally, we do not have any covenants, residual value guaranteekpartyela
transactions associated with our lease agreements.

Goodwill and other indefinitdived intangille assetsGoodwill represents the excess purchase price paid over the fair value of the net
assets of acquired companies. As of M&&h2022 and 2021, the carrying amount of goodwill was $32.8 million and $19.6 million,
respectively. Goodwill is testddr impairment on an annual basis, or in interim periods if indicators of potential impairment exist,
based on our one reporting unit. The Company evaluates whether goodwill is impaired by comparing its market capitai&htion ba
on its closing stock pree(Level 1 input) to the book value of its equity on the annual evaluation date. Based on testing performed, th
Company concluded that no impairment of its goodwill has occurred for the years ende@M&@h2, 2021 and 2020.

The Company is also reqait to compare the fair values of other indefitited intangible assets to their carrying amounts at least
annually, or when current events and circumstances require an interim assessment. If the carrying amount of afiviadefinite
intangible asset @eeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized.

Acquired intangible assetécquired intangible assets include identifiable customer relationships;ampetition agreements,
developed technology, and trade names. We amortize the cost ofifiadadentifiable intangible assets over their estimated useful
lives, which are periods of 15 years or less, primarily on a striigghbasis, which we believe approximates the pattern in which the
assets are utilized. The fair values assigned to idinigfintangible assets acquired in business combinations are determined
primarily by using the income approach, which discounts expected future cash flows attributable to these assets tbuprasiant va
estimates and assumptions determined by manageme

Longlived assetsProperty and equipment are recorded at cost. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized. Minor
replacements, maintenance, repairs, and reengineering costs are expensed as incurred. When assets are sold or atbdrofise dispo
the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized.

Depreciation and amortization are provided in amounts sufficient to amortize the cost of the assets, including assktsecorde
finance leases, which make up less than one percent of total assets, over their estimated useful lives usinglihe stethybd.
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The estimated useful lives for depreciation and amortization are as follows: buildings and building improvéheB@ years;
furniturei 7 to 10 years; equipment3 to 10 years; softwaiie3 to 10 years; and leasehold improvements over the shorter of the
economic life or the lease term. Internal use software costs are expensed or capitalized depending on skegprojenbunts
capitalized are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the software, ranging from 3 to 10 years, beginning witle toetpi® s
completion. Depreciation for capitalized project expenditures does not begin until the underlying peojeqtieted.

We evaluate the recoverability of our Ieliged assets whenever changes in circumstances or events may indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized in the event the carrying valassetstexceeds the future
undiscounted cash flows attributable to such assets. Outil@iassets and impairments considerations are discussed further in
Note 4,Property and Equipment, Net.

Foreign currency translationl he financial statements of of@reign operations are translated into U.S. dollars for financial reporting
purposes. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations whose functional currencies are not in U.S. dollars areatrireslated
periodend exchange rates, while revenue arbasges are translated at weighéegrage exchange rates during the fiscal year. The
cumul ative transl ation effects are reflected as a c olndpeornsedn
equity in the Consolidated Balance Sise&ains and losses on monetary transactions denominated in other than the functional
currency of an operation are reflected within AOthereign(i nco
currency gains and losses from chanigesxchange rates have not been material to our consolidated operating results.

Revenue recognitiohVe derive revenue from the sale of products (i.e., software, third party hardware and operating systems),
support, maintenance and subscription servindspaofessional services. For the fiscal years 2022, 2021 and 2020, revenue from
international operations was 7%, 8% and 9%, respectively of total revenue. Our customer base is highly fragmented.

Our customary business practice is to enter into legallyresfible written contracts with our customers. The majority of our contracts
are governed by a master service agreement between us and the customer, which sets forth the general terms andamynditions of
individual contract between the parties, whicthisn supplemented by a customer order to specify the different goods and services,
the associated prices, and any additional terms for an individual contract. Performance obligations specific to eaahdodivadti

are defined within the terms of eagfder. Each performance obligation is identified based on the goods and services that will be
transferred to our customer that are both capable of being distinct and are distinct within the context of the contearctadtien

price is determined baden the consideration to which we will be entitled and expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods o
services to the customer. Typically, our contracts do not provide our customer with any right of return or refund; werchraiot

the contact price as it is probable that there will not be a significant revenue reversal due to a return or refund.

Typically, our customer contracts contain one or more of the following goods or services which constitute performanoasbligat

Our software lienses typically provide for a perpetual right to use our software. Generally, our contracts do not provide significant
services of integration and customization and installation services are not required to be purchased directly fromftugar€he so
ddivered before related services are provided and is functional without professional services, updates and technidaleshppert.
concluded that the software license is distinct as the customer can benefit from the software on its own. Softwai® tygiealhe
recognized when the software is delivered or made available for download to the customer.

Revenue for hardware sales is recognized when the product is shipped to the customer and when obligations that affecttlee cus s
final acceptance dhe arrangement have been fulfilled. Hardware is purchased from suppliers and provided teudes enstomers

via dropship or from inventory. We are responsible for negotiating price both with the supplier and the customer, payment to the
supplier, estblishing payment terms and product returns with the customer, and we bear the credit risk if the customer does not pay
for the goods. As the principal contact with the customer, we recognize revenue and cost of goods sold when we stifiear are no

by the supplier that the product has been shipped. In certain limited instances, as shipping terms dictate, revenue isupmognized
receipt at the point of destination or upon installation at the customer site.

Support and maintenance revenue is derived from providing telephone-ind tthnical support services, bug fixes, and
unspecified software updates and upgrades to customers on-amdiéravailable basis. These services represent a-seauty
obligation that is concurrently delivered and has the same pattern of transfer to the customer; we account for these support and
maintenance services as a single performance obligation recognized over the term of the maintenance agreement.

Our subscription serwe revenue is comprised of fees for contracts that provide customers a right to access our software for a
subscribed period. We do not provide the customer the contractual right to license the software at any time outsitdsaifptiensu
period undethese contracts. The customer can only benefit from the software and software maintenance when provided the right tc
access the software. Accordingly, each of the rights to access the software, the maintenance services, and any hesiggatervic
consdered a distinct performance obligation in the context of the contract and should be combined into a single performance
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obligation to be recognized over the contract period. The Company recognizes subscription revenue awenthqreziod based on
thetypical monthly invoicing and renewal cycle in accordance with our customer agreement terms.

Professional services revenues primarily consist of fees for consulting, installation, integration and training anchlye gener
recognized over time as the ausier simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the professional services as the services
are being performed. Professional services can be provided by internal or external providers, do not significantlycafiestthe me r ¢
ability to accessmouse other provided goods or services, and provide a measure of benefit beyond that of other promised goods or
services in the contract. As a result, professional services are considered distinct in the context of the contraseahd ssparate
pefformance obligation. Professional services that are billed on a time and materials basis are recognized over timécas e serv
performed. For contracts billed on a fixed price basis, revenue is recognized over time using an input method basé&duns lab
expended to date relative to the total labor hours expected to be required to satisfy the related performance obligation.

We use the market approach to derive standal one selecentyg pr
executed customer contracts) to determine the price customers are willing to pay for the goods and services trahsgfeoattatitt
contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to that performaniom oBGligetacts that contain
multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation basstVersskel
basis.

Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recognized as revenue andeitheastatare recognized in cost of goods sold.
Revenue is recorded net of any applicable taxes collected and remitted to governmental agencies.

Comprehensive income (los€omprehensive income (loss) is the total of net income (loss), as currently deputtr GAAP, plus
other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) considers the effects of additional transactioormiand eco
events that are not required to be recorded in determining net income (loss), but rather are repsefealate statement of
comprehensive income (loss).

Fair value measurementg/e measure the fair value of financial assets and liabilities on a recurring-m@aworing basis. Financial
assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis are thoaeethajusted to fair value each time a financial statement is prepared.
Financial assets and liabilities measured on areoarring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value when a significant event
occurs. In determining fair value of financial essand liabilities, we use various valuation techniques.

Investments in corporatewned life insurance policiedgilysys invests in corporatewned life insurance policies, for which some
are endorsement sptipbllar life insurance arrangements. We esdieéinto agreements with certain former executives, whereby we
must maintain the life insurance policy for a specified amount and split a portion of the policy benefits with theiveedesiginated
beneficiary. Our investment in these corpom@eed Ife insurance policies were recorded at their cash surrender value, which
approximates fair value at the balance sheet date. In the Consolidated Balance Sheets at the balance sheet dategtidercash sur

value of $1.0 million for the remaining policieswve hel d i-aufOé mMteraso®at s, 0 and the pres
to those executivesd6 designated beneficiary of $0. Turremt | | i o
l'iabilities. 0 Agdadling thednneatinents in ¢omporammdd iife insuranee policies is provided in Note 10,

Employee Benefit Plans

Income Taxedncome tax expense includes U.S. and foreign income taxes and is based on reported income before income taxes. \
recognize defrred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax
basis of assets and liabilities. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the enacted taechtesapppétt

the periods in which the deferred tax assets or liabilities are anticipated to be settled or realized.

We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance if it is more likelytttzn

some portion, oall, of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The determination as to whether a deferred tax asset will be realized
made on a jurisdictional basis and is based on the evaluation of positive and negative evidence. This evidence incbades histo
taxable income, projected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversal of existing temporary differereees and th
implementation of tax planning strategies.

We recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likafyrtbt that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized faimtamcert
positions are measured at the largest amount of benefit that is gneatéifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. No tax benefits are recognized for positions that do not meet this threshold. Interest related to uncesthonsais p
recognized as part of the provision for income taxes andised beginning in the period that such interest would be applicable
under relevant tax law until such time that the related tax benefits are recognized. Our income taxes are descrilveNdtetBer i
Income Taxes

Advertising and Promotion Expense expense advertising and promotion expense as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense
was $2.6 million, $0.4 million and $2.7 million in fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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ReclassificationCertain prior year balances have been reclassed torootddhe current year presentation. Specifically, we
reclassed certain employee benefit obligations fromawrent to current liabilities.

Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2@&] Accountingfor Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities From Contracts With
CustomergASU No. 202108), which amends Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 805 to require acquiring entities to apply
ASU No. 201409, Revenue from Contracts with Custom@rspic 606 to recognize and measure contract assets and contract
liabilities in a business combination. The ASU is intended to improve the accounting for acquired revenue contractemgtts ¢uist

a business combination by addressing diversity in practice aodsistency related to the recognition of an acquired contract liability
as well as the payment terms and their impact on subsequent revenue recognized by the acquirer. The new standarctivéll be effe
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 202@uiding interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted,
including adoption in an interim period. We adopted ASU 202 Huring the three months ended March 31, 2022 Note 15,
Business Combination

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU)0& D053

Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic-2@Pand Derivatives and HedgiaggCont r acts i n Enti tyo6s
(Subtopic81510) : Accounting for Convertibl e | ns,whichsmeplfiesthe acoodntingo n t
for convertible instruments by eliminating the requirement to separate embedded conversion features from the host enritract wh
converson features are not required to be accounted for as derivatives under Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or thatltlo not re:
in substantial premiums accounted for as faidapital. By removing the separation model, a convertible debt instrumebgewill

reported as a single liability instrument with no separate accounting for embedded conversion features. This new standard als
removes certain settlement conditions that are required for contracts to qualify for equity classification and simpliliiesdhe

earnings per share calculations by requiring that an entity usedbie\viérted method and that the effect of potential share settlement
be included in diluted earnings per share calculations. The new standard will be eftediaeal years beginning aft€ecember 15,

2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal ye@irgledtgr
December 15, 2020. We adopted ASU 2080as of April 1, 2021 with no impach@ur condensed consolidated financial

statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2029ncome Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes
which affects general principles within Topic 740, Income Taxes, and is meampidysand reduce the cost of accounting for
income taxesThe new standard effectivefor fiscal years beginning aft€ecember 15, 2020, including interim periods within those
fiscal yearsWe adopted ASU 20192 as of April 1, 2021 with no material jact on our condensed consolidated financial
statements.

Management continually evaluates the potential impact, if any, of all recent accounting pronouncements on our consafidatkd fi
statements or related disclosures and, if significant, makegphepsiate disclosures required by such new accounting
pronouncements.

3. Revenue Recognition

For in depth discussion regarding our revenue recognition procedures for our revenue streams, see Note 2, Summagntf Signific
Accounting Policies.

Disaggregaton of Revenue

We derive and report our revenue from the sale of products (software licenses, third party hardware and operatingupyxigms), s
maintenance and subscription services and professional services. Revenue recognized at a point in titegt(riedeid $36.0

million, $26.7 million, and $44.2 million during fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020. Revenue recognized over time (support, raiatehan
subscription services and professional services) totaled $126.7 million, $110.5 million, and $1ld&hXoniliig fiscal 2022, 2021,
and 2020.

Contract Balances
Contract assets are rights to consideration in exchange for goods or services that we have transferred to a customeghtlien tha
conditional on something other than the passage of time. Tjogityhaf our contract assets represent unbilled amounts related to

products and professional services. We expect billing and collection of our contract assets to occur within the nexdritirslvVé/m
receive payments from customers based upon conttdniflireg schedules and accounts receivable are recorded when the right to
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consideration becomes unconditional. Contract liabilities represent consideration received or consideration which isnaiyondit
due from customers prior to transferring goodsexvices to the customer under the terms of the contract.

Revenue recognized from amounts included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the period was $38.1 million antli&40.9 m
during fiscal 2022 and 2021. During fiscal 2022 and 2021, wsfeared from contract assets at the beginning of the period, $2.4
million and $2.0 million, respectively, to accounts receivable because the right to the transaction became unconditional.

Our arrangements are for a period of one year or less. As g temdtisfied performance obligations as of Ma&8th2022 are
expected to be satisfied and the allocated transaction price recognized in revenue within a period of 12 months or less.

Assets Recognized from Costs to Obtain a Contract

Sales commission expees that would not have occurred absent the customer contracts are considered incremental costs to obtain
contract. We have elected to take the practical expedient available to expense the incremental costs to obtain draamtestt as

when the expeaed benefit and amortization period is one year or less. For subscription contracts that are renewed monthly based ol
agreement term, we capitalize commission expenses and amortize as we satisfy the underlying performance obligatigns, generall
based orthe contract terms and anticipated renewals. For first year support and maintenance service contracts, commission expen:
are immaterial and therefore expenses as incurred. Other sales commission expenses are not material or have a perafaoé benef
year or less, and are therefore expensed as incurred in line with the practical expedient elected.

We had $3.3 million and $2.9 million of capitalized sales incentive costs as of Bar2h22 and 2021, respectively. These balances
are included in othrenon-current assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. During fiscal 2022 and 2021, we expensed $2.5 millior
and $2.8 million, respectively, of sales commissions, which included amortization of capitalized amounts of $1.2 m#ilos and
million, respetively. These expenses are included in operating expérsdes and marketing in our Consolidated Statement of
Operations. All other costs to obtain a contract are not considered incremental and therefore are expensed as incurred.

4. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment at Mar8h, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Year ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021
Furniture and equipment $ 14,63: $ 14,89¢
Software 16,33¢ 16,89:
Leasehold improvements 7,12z 7,091
Project expenditures not yet in use 17 21C

38,11( 39,09°
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (31,765 (30,309
Property and equipment, net $ 6,34t $ 8,78¢

Total depreciation expense on property and equipment wasnfizgh, $2.8 million, and $2.6 million during fiscal 2022, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

The Company capitalizes interaade software, including software used exclusively in providing services or that is only made
available to customers as a software senas property and equipment under ASC-880InternalUse Software. Total amortization
expense on capitalized interngde software was $1.3 million, $2.0 million and $2.5 million during fiscal 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively.

Assets under financingases are included in property and equipment categories above and further disclosed withddses6.
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5. Intangible Assets and Software Development Costs

The following table summarizes our intangible assets and software development costs &1MV202R, and 2021

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Gross Net Gross Net

carrying Accumulated  Accumulated  carrying carrying Accumulated  Accumulated carrying
(In thousands) amount amortization Impairment amount amount amortization impairment amount
Finite-lived intangible assets
Customer relationships $ 20,39: $ (10,939 $ 0 $ 945 $ 10,77 $ (10,779 $ d $ e}
Non-competition agreement 3,541 (2,809 o) 73¢ 2,70C (2,700) o) o)
Developed technology 11,22 (10,440 o] 784 10,39¢ (10,399 o] o]
Trade names 1,07t (279) o) 802 23C (230) o) o)
Patented technology 8C (80 o) o] 80 (80) o] o]

36,317 (24,539 o) 11,77¢ 24,18: (24,187 o] o)

Indefinite-lived trade names 8,40( N/A d 8,40( 8,40( N/A o] 8,40(
Total intangible assets $ 44717 $ (24,539 $ 0 $ 20,17¢ $ 32,58! $ (24,18) $ da $ 8,40(
(In thousands)
Software development cost: $ 6754. $ (45,53H $ (22,000 $ 0 $ 6754 % (45,539 $ (22,000 $ o)

Total amortization expense for finitiwed intangible assets was $0.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 and zero for the years
ended March 31, 2021, and 2020, respectively. See Note 15, Business Combination, for more information on the atéjnitgtion

lived intangible assets.

Estimated future amortization expense on fifited intangible assets is as follows:

Estimated Amortization

(In thousands) Expense

Fiscal year ending March 31,

2023 $ 1,39¢
2024 1,29:
2025 97t
2026 97t
2027 89z
Thereafter 6,24t
Total $ 11,77¢

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, comprised of our purchased trade name InfoGenesis as &IVaed? and 2024re tested for
impairment upon identification of impairment indicators or at least annually. An impairment loss is recognized if thg aeroyint
is greater than fair value. The InfoGenesis indefilited purchased trade name impairment testing red i a fair value exceeding
the carrying amount for the years ending Madth2022, 2021 and 2020.

Amortization expense related to software development costs related to assets to be sold, leased, or otherwise marRefed was $1
million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020. These charges are included as Products cost of goods sold withinidiage@onsol
Statements of Operations.

6. Leases

The majority of our leases are comprised of real estate leases for our respectigeanfficd the globe. Our finance leases consist of
office equipment. We have no residual value guarantees or restrictions or covenants imposed by or associated witteasesctive

As of March31, 2022, we have an additional operating lease that hggthodmmenced of approximately $11.7 million. This

operating lease will commence in fiscal year 2023 with a lease term of approximately eleven years. We do not have pastyelated
leases. We have variable payments for expenses such as common areaameérand taxes. We do not have variable payments that
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are based on an index or rate. As a result, we do not include variable payments in the calculation of the lease jraklitgblén
costs are expensed as incurred.

We sublease one of our officeakes located in Bellevue, Washington with a lease term that will expire during fiscal year 2024.

The components of lease expenses, which are included in operating expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Opeaations, were
follows:

Year ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021
Operating leases expense $ 475 % 4,44(
Finance lease expense:
Amortization of ROU assets 17 26
Interest on lease liabilities 2 5
Total finance lease expense 19 31
Variable lease costs 462 443
Short term lease expense 14C 12C
Sublease income (782) (129
Total lease expense $ 4,59; $ 4,90t

Other information related to leases for fiscal 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

Year ended March 31,
Supplemental cash flow information 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
(in thousands):

Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 5,53¢ $ 5,987

Operating cash flows for finance leases 23 30

Financing cash flows for finance leases 19 24
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations (in thousands):

Operating leases $ 1,31« $ 1,57:
Weighted average remaining lease terms

Operating leases 3.0¢ 4.3¢

Finance leases 1.4 1.44
Weighted average discount rates

Operating leases 7.62% 10.51%

Finance leases 4.5(% 4.4€%

The table below reconciles the undiscounted future minimum lease payments (displayed by year aggjiaghte) under nen
cancelable leases with terms of more than one year to the total lease liabilities recognized on the Consolidated Ba&moé Shee
March31, 2022:

(In thousands) Operating leases? Finance lease
Fiscal year ending MarcBi,
2023 5,22¢ 5
2024 2,93¢ 2
2025 1,84¢ o}
2026 1,31¢ 0
2027 88( o}
Thereafter 0 0
Total undiscounted future minimum lease payments 12,20¢ 7
Less: difference between undiscounted lease paymentistwdinted lease

liabilities (1,508 (@)
Total lease liabilities $ 10,69¢ % 6

(1) Non-cancellable sublease proceeds for the fiscal years ending March 31, 2023, and 2024 of $0.8 million and $0.7 million,
respectively, are not included in ttable above.

52



7. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

Additional information related to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is as follows:

Year ended March 31,

(In thousands) 202 2021 202(C
Cash (receipts) for interest, net $ 47 $ 87n $ (372
Cash payments for income tax, net 787 45¢ 694
Accrued capital expenditures 8¢ 102 187
8. Additional Balance Sheet Information

Additional information related to the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows:

(In thousands) March 31, 202. March31, 202:
Accrued liabilities:

Salaries, wages, and related benefits $ 7,87( $ 8,60¢
Other taxes payable 1,99¢ 1,79¢
Accrued legal settlements o} 20C
Severance liabilities 24 79
Professional fees 373 97
Other 291 607
Total $ 10,55 $ 11,38"
Other non-current liabilities:

Uncertain tax positions $ 1,15¢ $ 1,12¢
Deferred rent and asset retirement obligations 43 17C
Employee benefit obligations 2,037 2,48t
Other 70 73
Total $ 3,30 $ 3,851
9. Income Taxes

For the year ended March 31, income (loss) before income taxes consistetbtddving:

(In thousands) 2022 2021 202(
Income (loss) before income taxes

United States $ 159 $ (26,27) $ (36,379)
Foreign 4,91: 5,06: 2,507
Total income (loss) before income taxes $ 6,511 $ (21,209 $ (33,86¢)
For the year ended March 31, income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following:

(In thousands) 2022 2021 202(
Income tax expense (benefit)

Current:

Federal $ 62 $ 9 3 59
State and local 21 30 21
Foreign 858 731 462
Deferred:

Federal 12 12 11
State and local 7 32 7
Foreign (922) (1,029 (360)
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 33 $ (208) $ 201
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The following table presents tipgincipal components of the difference between the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory
income tax rate for the years ended March 31:

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Income tax expense (benefit) at the US Federal statutory rate $ 1,36¢ $ (4,459 $ (7,119
Benefit for state taxes (65) (803 (85€)
Impact of foreign operations (819 (841) (519
Indefinite life assets 19 43 1¢
Change in valuation allowance (2,629 7,271 8,40¢
Change in liability for unrecognized tax benefits 25 26 22
Sharebased compensation (2,019 (2,232 (312)
Global intangible lowtaxed income 971 98t 46(
Deferred adjustments (260) (47¢) o}
Provision to return 3,43¢ 27¢ (35)
Other ©)] 3 122
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 33 % (209 $ 201

We have elected to account for global intangible-taxed incomdGILT]I) inclusions in the period in which they are incurred.

Our tax provision includes a provision for income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions where subsidiaries are profitadile ab

minimal benefit is reflected related to U.S. and certaiaifpr tax losses due to the uncertainty of the ultimate realization of future
benefits from these losses. The fiscal 2022 tax provision results primarily from foreign tax benefit. The fiscal 202#5tax pro

differs from the statutory rate primarily dueddjustments to deferred tax assets and the recording of net operating losses in a numbe
of foreign jurisdictions offset by current year expense in other foreign jurisdictions.

The fiscal 2021 tax provision results primarily from foreign tax benefit.fiBloal 2021 tax provision differs from the statutory rate
primarily due to adjustments to deferred tax assets and the recording of net operating losses in a number of forgigngoftsdic
by current year expense in other foreign jurisdictions.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, are as follows:

(In thousands) 2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities $ 7572 % 9,141
Allowance for expected credit losses and doubtful accounts 83 27¢
Federalosses and credit carryforwards 50,61 51,85¢
Foreign losses and credit carryforwards 2,79¢ 2,10¢
State losses and credit carryforwards 11,17¢ 11,64:
Deferred revenue 193 464
Property and equipment and softwareortization 41€ 171
Operating lease liabilities 1,48¢ 2,69
Goodwill and other intangible assets 607 1,88¢
Other 163 9C
75,10¢ 80,32¢
Less: valuation allowance (69,515 (74,63))
Total 5,594 5,69¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Operating lease righif-use assets (1,269 (2,312
Goodwill and other intangible assets (2,575 (2,519
Other (15) 7
Total (3,859 (4,819
Total deferred tax assets, net $ 1,73t $ 87¢

At March31, 2022, we had $196.3 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in fiscal years 2031 to
2038, and $42.8 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that can be carried forward indefinitely. Our Hong Kong,
Malaysia, Singapore and Australia subsidiaries have $0.4 million, $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million of net djpskating
carryforwards, respectively. The losses for Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and Australia can be carried forward in@efinitely.
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I ndia subsidiary operates in a ASpeci al Economic Zone (ASE
subsidiary is not subject to regular India income taxes during its first 5 years of operations which includes fiscal &fH 8sbal

2022. The India subsidiary is then subject to 50% of regular India income taxes during the second five years of opéations wh
includes fiscal 2023 through fiscal 2027. The aggregate value of the benefit of the SEZ during the curreeafisc@Py6 million as

of March31, 2022. The Company has paid minimum alternative taxes during the period of regular tax relief resulting in a credit of
$2.0 million as of Marci31, 2022.

At March 31, 2022 we also had $166.8 million of stateaprating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in fiscal years 2023
through 2041.

We recorded valuation allowances related to certain deferred income tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultitiateofebkza
future benefits from those asseAt March31, 2022, the total valuation allowance against deferred tax assets of $69.5 million was
comprised of $68.6 million for federal and state deferred tax assets, and $0.9 million associated with deferred tad@ssets in
Kong, Malaysia, Singape, the Philippines and Australia. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management consider
whether it is mordikely-thannot that some, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We have recorded a valuation
allowance offetting substantially all of our deferred tax assets. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. Management consid
the schedied reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward periods), projected
taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. In order to fully realize the deferred taxvealiseteg we
generate future taxable income before the expiration of the deferred tax assets governed by the tax code. Becauss @f our loss
recent periods, management believes that it is #lilogly -thannot that we will not realize the benefits of these déblecdifferences.

The amount of the valuation allowance, however, could be reduced in the near term. The exact timing will be based|af the leve
profitability that we are able to achieve and our visibility into future results. Our recorded tax rdteraage in subsequent periods
following a valuation release. Any valuation allowance release will not affect the amount of cash paid for income taxes.

The undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are not subject to U.S. federal and stattaesoomess such earnings are
distributed in the form of dividends or otherwise to the extent of current and accumulated earnings and profits. Thataddistri
earnings of foreign subsidiaries are permanently reinvested and totaled $17.1 milliordamdl®®. as of Marct31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. We made the determination of permanent reinvestment on the basis of sufficient evidence that demondlirates we wi
invest the undistributed earnings overseas indefinitely for use in working capita|l @s foreign acquisitions and expansion. The
determination of the amount of the unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability related to the undistributed eaonings is n
practicable.

We recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions. The aggrediaages in the balance of our uncertain tax positions were as follows
for the years ended March 31:

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Balance at April 1 $ 57t % 57t  $ 58(
Reductions relating to lapse in statute o) 0 (5)
Balance aMarch 31 $ 57t % 57¢  §$ 57¢

As of March31, 2022, we had a liability of $0.6 million related to uncertain tax positions, the recognition of which would affect our
effective income tax rate.

Although the timing and outcome of tax settlements are uncertain, it is reasonably possible that during the next 12 months an
immaterial reduction in unrecognized tax benefits may occur as a result of the expiration of various statutes of lilhiéasiens.
consistently subject to tax audits; due to the nature of examinations in multiple jurisdictions, changes could ocaupimtief a
gross unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months which cannot be estimated at this time.

We recognize interesiccrued on any uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. Penalties are recognized as a
component of general and administrative expenses. We recognized interest and penalty expense of less than $0.1 enjibansfor th
ended Marcl81,2022, 2021 and 2020. As of Mar8l, 2022 and 2021, we had approximately $1.2 million and $1.0 million,
respectively, of interest and penalties accrued in othecament liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In the U.S. we file consolidatedderal and state income tax returns where statutes of limitations generally range from three to five

years. Although we have resolved examinations with the IRS through tax year ended March 31, 2010, U.S. federal teopgzars are
from 2006 forward due tattribute carryforwards. The statute of limitations is open from fiscal year 2015 forward in certain state
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jurisdictions. We also file income tax returns in international jurisdictions where statutes of limitations generallsorarigeet to
seven yearsyears beginning after 2011 are open for examination by certain foreign taxing authorities.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (AC

The CARES Act provides, among other provisions, for the deferral of the emyplaigiportionof social security taxes through the
end of 2020, with 50% of the deferred amount due December 31, 2022.

10. Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Contribution Plans

We maintain 401(k) plans for employees located in the United States meeting certain serviemessl Generally, the plans allow
eligible employees to contribute a portion of their compensation, and we match 100% of the first 1% of the empldgize's pre
contributions and 50% of the next 5% of the employee'$gxreontributions. We may also mattiscretionary contributions each
year for the benefit of all eligible employees under the plans. Agilysys matching contributions were $1.4 million, %0, lamdli
$1.8 million in fiscal 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

We also maintain defined coititution retirement plans for employees located in the United Kingdom and in the Asia Pacific region in
accordance with local statutory requirements and business practices.

Defined Benefit Plan

We maintain a defined benaefniot) rceotvierrea megntelplgarb | (et heempil Gryaetewsi
with local statutory requirements and business practices. The Gratuity Plan providessahuimpgyment to vested employees at
retirement, death, incapacitation, or terminationofepnptoe nt , of an amount based on the re
tenure of employment with the Company. The Gratuity Plan is unfunded with obligation amounts recorded in the Consolidated
Bal ance Sheets as AEmMployeeonbeneént bbabightioesd andhi 8ah&
within "Accrued liabilities".

Endorsement SpiDollar Life Insurance

Agilysys provides certain former executives with life insurance benefits through endorsemettlispliife insurace arrangements.
We entered into agreements with each of the former executives, whereby we must maintain the life insurance policyfigat a speci
amount and split a portion of the policy benefits with their designated beneficiary.

Our investment in thescorporateowned life insurance policies were recorded at their cash surrender value, which approximates fair
value at the balance sheet date. In the Consolidated Balance Sheets as @1M20&2 and 2021, the cash surrender value of $1.0
milionforthe r emai ni ng polici-esr wene aesedtsnpnofn®Ondherheopresent v
executives' designated beneficiaries of $0.1 million, which approximates fair value, were recorded within "Gtleremon

liabilities."

Changes in the cash surrender value of these policies related to gains and losses incurred on these investmentd anghatassifie
Ot her (income) expenses, neto in the accompany$13aP0, £34,008 ol i
and $14,000 in fiscal 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, related to the coguanate life insurance policies.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Contingencies

We are involved in legal actions that arise in the ordinary coursasafdss. It is the opinion of management that the resolution of
any current pending litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

On April 6, 2012, Ameranth, Inc. filed a complaint against us inki® District Court for the Southern District of California alleging
that certain of our products infringe patents owned by Ameranth directed to configuring and transmitting hospitality.gignus (e
restaurant menus) for display on electronic devicessgnchronizing the menu content between devices. The case against us was
consolidated with similar cases brought by Ameranth against more than 30 other defendants. All but one of the pateitgla issu
case were invalidated by the U.S. Court of Appéaishe Federal Circuit in 2016. In September 2018, the District Court found the
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one surviving Ameranth patent invalid and granted summary judgment in favor of the modaftdants. This judgment was

affirmed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fedi€ircuit in November 2019 with respect to all claims except for two, which were
not asserted against Agilysys, and Ameranthés writ @mh cert
December 2021, the District Court deniedédm ant hés moti on to assert additional cl
District Court granted summary judgment in favor of the defendants still facing the remaining claims. Subsequently, Ameranth
appealed the grant of summary judgment whth U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On May 11, 2022, in accordance with
its prior rulings, the District Court entered judgment in favor of us and against Ameranth on all claims asserted against us.

At this time, we are not able to predioté out come of Ameranthés pending appeal on
exposure associated with the lawsuit. However, we dispute the allegations of wrongdoing and are vigorously defendisdrourselve
this matter.

12. Earnings per Shae

The following data shows the amounts used in computing earnings per share and the effect on earnings and the weighted average
number of shares of dilutive potential common shares.

Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020
Numerator:

Net income (loss) $ 6,47¢ $ (21,00) $ (34,06

Series A convertible preferred stock issuance costs o} (2,037 o}

Series A convertible preferred stock dividends (1,836 (1,576 o)

Net incomg(loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 464: $ (23,609 $ (34,067

Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstandibgsic 24,35" 23,45¢ 23,23
Dilutive SSARs 1,06: o} o}
Dilutive unvestedestricted shares 63 o) o)

Weighted average shares outstandidguted 25,48 23,45¢ 23,23

Income (loss) per share basic: $ 0.1¢ $ (1.01)) $ (1.49
Income (loss) per share diluted: $ 0.1t $ (1.00) $ (1.47)
Anti-dilutive stock options, SSARSs, restricted shares,

performance shares and preferred shares 1,73¢ 4,22¢ 1,51¢(

Basic income (loss) per share is computed as net income available to common shareholders divided by thaweesgjetd@dsic

shares outstanding. The outstanding shares used to calculate the weighted average basic shares excludes 147,973, 132,198 and
208,581 of restricted shares and performance shares at Blgr2@22, 2021 and 2020, respectively, as these sharesssued but

were not vested and, therefore, not considered outstanding for purposes of computing basic earnings per share asheebalance
dates.

Diluted income (loss) per share includes the effect of all potentially dilutive securities on eparishare. We have stoeskttled
appreciation rights ("SSARs") and unvested restricted shares that are potentially dilutive securities. When a losd,itheeporte
denominator of diluted earnings per share cannot be adjusted for the dilutive impact-tbsieal compensation awards because
doing so would be andilutive.

13. Sharebased Compensation

We may grant incentive stock options, rqumlified stock options, SSARS, restricted shares, and performance shares under our
shareholdeapproved 2020 Stodkcentive Plan (the 2020 Plan) for up to 2.25 million common shares, plus 868,864 common shares
the number of shares that were remaining for grant under the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2016 Plan) as of the teffefdiinee da
2020 Plan, plus the nurer of shares remaining for grant under the 2016 Plan that are forfeited, settled in cash, canceled or expired.
The maximum aggregate number of restricted shares or restricted share units that may be granted under the 2020 Rian.is 3.1 mi
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We may distibute authorized but unissued shares or treasury shares to satisfy share option and SSAR exercises or restricted share
performance share grants.

For SSARSs, the exercise price must be set at least equal to the closing market price of our commantkeatatemf grant. The
maximum term of SSARs is seven years from the date of grant. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors establishe
the period over which SSARs subject to a service condition vest and the vesting criteria for SSARtsalnjecket condition.

Restricted shares, whether tiwested or performandeased, may be issued at no cost or at a purchase price that may be below their
fair market value, but are subject to forfeiture and restrictions on their sale or other tRa$éemancerased grants may be
conditioned upon the attainment of specified performance objectives and other conditions, restrictions, and contingéiatied. Re
shares have the right to receive dividends, if any, upon vesting, subject to the $emueeqrovisions that apply to the underlying
grants.

We record compensation expense related to SSARS, restricted shares, and performance shares granted to certain engployees and
employee directors based on the fair value of the awards on the gerntliafair value of restricted share grants subject only to a
service condition is based on the closing price of our common shares on the grant date. For stock option and SSARgraniy subj

to a service condition, we estimate the fair value orgthat date using the Bla<¥cholesMerton option pricing model with inputs
including the closing market price at grant date, exercise price and assumptions regardingréeingdrest rate, expected volatility

of our common shares based on histonveddtility, and expected term as estimated using the simplified method. For restricted share
and SSAR grants subject to a market condition, we estimate the fair value on the grant date through a lattice optioodefched

utilizes a Monte Carlo angdis with inputs including the closing market price at grant date, share price threshold and assumptions
regarding the risHfree interest rate and expected volatility of our common shares based on historical volatility. Inputs for SSAR grant
subject to anarket condition also include exercise price, remaining contractual term, and suboptimal exercise factor.

We record compensation expense for restricted shares and SSAR grants subject to a service condition using the graded vesting
method. We record compet®n expense for SSAR grants subject only to a market condition over the derived service period, which
is an output of the lattice option pricing model. Under the 2020 Plan, the fair value of performance shares is basleding tiree

of our commorshares on the settlement date of the performance award, for which we record compensation expense over the servic
period consistent with our annual bonus incentive plan as approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

The following tabé summarizes the shabased compensation expense for SSARSs, restricted and performance awards included in th
Consolidated Statements of Operations for fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Year Ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Productdevelopment 8,18¢ 21,63« 2,241
Sales and marketing 1,35¢ 4,252 321
General and administrative 5,00¢ 14,20¢ 2,64:
Total sharebased compensation expense 14,54¢ 40,09: 5,20¢

StockSettled Stock Appreciation Rights

SSARs are rights granted to an employee to receive value equal to the difference between the price of our common sltaies on th
of exercise and the exercise price. The value is settled in common shares of Agilysys, Inc.

We use a BlaciScholesMerton ogiion pricing model to estimate the fair value of service condition SSARs. There were no service
condition SSARs granted in fiscal 2022. The following table summarizes the principal assumptions utilized in valuingpselitime
SSARs granted in fiscalb21 and 2020:

2021 2020
Risk-free interest rate 0.31% 1.38%1.74%
Expected life (in years) 4 455
Expected volatility 42.9%% 31.7%32.42%
Weightedaverage grant date fair value $ 22.51 $ 10.0]

The riskfree interest rate is based on the yield of a zero coupon U.S. Treasury bond whose maturity period approximates the expe
life of the SSARs. The expected life is estimated using historical data representing the period of time the awarmtteatdochp

58



outstanding. The estimated fair value of the SSARs granted is recognized over the vesting period of the awards wilaieg the
vesting method. Under this method, the compensation cost related to unvested amounts begins to be recddhegdaas date.

We use a Lattice option pricing model to estimate the fair value of market condition SSARs. There were no market cdkidéion SS
granted in fiscal 2022. The following table summarizes the principal valuation assumptions utilitieel masdilting fair value of
market condition SSARs granted in fiscal 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020
Risk-free interest rate over contractual term 0.6(% 1.4(%
Expected volatility 40.0(% 31.7(%
Suboptimal exercise factor 2.50» 3.0x
Weightedaverage grant date fair value $ 19.5¢ $ 9.6(

The following table summarizes the activity during fiscal 2022 for SSARs awarded under the 2020 and 2016 Plans:

Weighted
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
(In thousands, except share and per share data) of Rights Price Term Value
(per right) (in years)
Outstanding at April 1, 2021 3,068,25. $ 20.9(
Granted o} o}
Exercised (839,069 12.8¢
Forfeited (55,599 20.0z
Cancelled/expired (647) 14.2%
Outstanding at March 31, 2022 2,17293" $ 24.0:2 44 $ 34,45
Exercisable at March 31, 2022 1,462,26. $ 23.7¢ 43 $ 23,59(
Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2022 217293 $ 24.0z 44 $ 34,45¢

The following table presents additional information related to SSARs activity during fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020:

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Compensation expense $ 10,03 $ 35,80¢ % 1,66¢
Totalintrinsic value of SSARs exercised $ 34,437 % 25,15 % 51¢
Total fair value of SSARs vesting $ 6,43¢ % 31,38C % 1,32¢

As of March31, 2022, total unrecognized shdnr@sed compensation expense related tevesied service conditidBSARs was $3.8
million, which is expected to be recognized over the weightestage vesting period of 1.0 years.

A total of 636,238 shares, net of 31,513 shares withfloml d t
treasury shres to settle SSARs exercised during the twelve months ended 31ar2022. The shares withheld were returned to
treasury shares.

Restricted Shares
We use a Lattice option pricing model to estimate the fair value of restricted shares subject to eomditicat. There were no

restricted shares subject to a market condition granted in fiscal 2021 or 2020. The following table summarizes theagluatgyal
assumptions utilized and the resulting fair value of restricted shares subject to a markiethcgradited in fiscal 2022:

2022
Risk-free interest rate over contractual term 0.5% - 0.9%
Expected volatility 54.0% - 56.0%
Weightedaverage grant date fair value $24.77- $39.1:
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We granted shares to certain of our Directexgcutives and key employees, the vesting of which is selpased. Certain restricted
shares are also subject to a market condition. The following table summarizes the activity during the twelve monthsanged Mar
2022 for restricted shares awardedier the 2020 and 2016 Plans:

Weighted
Average
Grant
Number Date Fair
of Shares Value
(per share)
Outstanding at April 1, 2021 132,19¢ $ 37.67
Granted 123,54: 43.6¢
Vested (96,219 36.7¢
Forfeited (10,619 38.92
Outstanding at March 31, 2022 148,91: $ 43.5¢

The weighteehverage grant date fair value of the restricted shares includes grants subject only to a service condition and certain
grants subject to both a service condition and a madtedition. During fiscal 2022, a total of 147,900 shares were issued from
treasury.

The following table presents additional information related to restricted share activity during fiscal years 2022, ZiZ):and

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Compensation expense $ 433¢ % 4,108 % 3,23:
Total fair value of restricted share vesting $ 3291 $ 7554 % 3,491

As of March31, 2022, total unrecognized shdn@sed compensation expense related tevesied restricted shares was $#iflion,
which is expected to be recognized over a weightestage vesting period of 2.2 years. We do not include restricted shares in the
calculation of earnings per share until the shares are vested.

Performance Shares

Upon approval of the CompensatiGommittee of our Board of Directors, after achieving the performance conditions associated with
our annual bonus plan, we grant common shares to our Chief Executive Officer that vest immé&xiatebttainment of the

performance conditions becomes prdealwe recognize compensation expense related to performance shares ratably over the
performance period. The number of performance shares granted will be based on the closing price of our common shaaas$ on the g
date and settlement date, which are #raes under the 2020 plan.

Based on the performance conditions achieved as they relate to our annual bonus plan, management estimates a IZability of $0.
million as of March31, 2022, to be settled through the granting and vesting of performance shafdsuafedl1, 2022. We

recognized compensation expense related to performance shares of $0.2 million in each of the fiscal years ending N&rch 31, 20
2021, and 2020, respectively.

14. Preferred Stock
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

On May 22, 2020,we o mp|l et ed t he sale of 1,735,457 shares of our pre
Convertible Preferred Stocko (the AConvertible Preferded S
I, LP (thacfHol dheli $&8) capacity as a designee of MAK Capit al
Investment Agreement, dated as of May 11, 2020, between the Company and the Purchaser, for an aggregate purchase price of $
million. We incurred issance costs of $1.0 million. We added all issuance costs that were netted against the proceeds upon issuanc
of the Convertible Preferred Stock to its redemption value. As disclosed in our Annual Report for the fiscal year end&d March
2020, MichaelKah man, t he Chairman of the Companyds Board of Direc
LLC.

Accounting Policy
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We classify convertible preferred stock as temporary equity in the consolidated balance sheets due to certain contiptient rede
clauses that are at the election of the Holders. We increase the carrying value of the convertible preferred stoekatios neslue
(described below) for all undeclared dividends using the interest method.

The Convertible Preferred Stock hhs following rights, preferences and restrictions (the Certificate of Designation included as

Exhibit 3.3 to our Current Report on ForrK&n February 9, 2022, which superseded the Certificate of Amendment included as
Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report ¢torm 8K, filed on May 26, 2020, when we converted to a Delaware corporation in February
2022, defines all terms not otherwise defined below):

Voting

The Holders are entitled to one vote for each share of Convertible Preferred Stock upon all matters presented to the common
shareholders of the Company, and except as otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company byrequired
law, the Holders and common shareholders will vote together as one class on all matters. Additionally, certain matterstipecific to
Convertible Preferred Stock will require the approval of-thiods of the outstanding Convertible Preferred Stock, votiray as

separate class.

Liquidation Preference

Upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, each share of Convertible Preferred Stock will be emtittidet@n
amount per share equal to the greater of (i) the purchase price paid byd@seurplus all accrued and unpaid dividends (the
ALiquidation Preferenceo) and (ii) the amount thatibehe Hol
Preferred Stock were converted into common stock.

Redemption

On and afterhte fifth anniversary of the date the Convertible Preferred Stock was initially issued, the Company will have the right,
and the Holders wildl have the right to require th@nolessmpany
than all, of the thewutstanding Convertible Preferred Stock for an amount equal to the Liquidation Preference.

Conversion

Each Holder has the right, at its option, to convert its Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, into fullg paid an
assessable shares of common stock at a conversion price equal to $20.1676 per share (as may be adjusted from time to time, as
described in the Certificate of Designation).

Subject to certain conditions, the Company may, at its option, require converalbafdhe outstanding shares of Convertible

Preferred Stock to common stock if, at any time after November 22, 2023, the dailywoleneg ht ed aver age pric
common stock is at least 150% of the conversion price for at least 20 tragi;duting the 30 consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the date the Company notifies the Holders of the election to convert.

Dividends

The Holders are entitled to dividends on the Liquidation Preference at the rate of 5.25% per annum, payatheiabyreither (i)
50% in cash and 50% in kind as an increase in thedharnt Liquidation Preference or (ii) 100% in cash, at the option of the
Company. The Holders are not entitled to participate in dividends declared or paid on the commonasiasconverted basis;
however, certain anrtlilution adjustments to the Convertible Preferred Stock may be made in the event of such dividends.

The Convertible Preferred Stock ranks seni or tioutionshoe Compan
liquidation, windingup and dissolution. Upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, each share of Convertible
Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive an amount per share equal to the greater of (i) the Liquidatiorc@®eafdréi) the

amount that the Holder would have been entitled to receive at such time if the Convertible Preferred Stock were canverted int
common stock.

Change in Control Events

Upon certain change of control events involving the Company, the Corhgariie right, and each Holder has the right, in each case,
at the initiating partyés election, t o -outstgndingrsieares di@nvertblap a ny
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Preferred Stock for cash consideration equal to (i) 1508tecthercurrent Liquidation Preference for a change of control occurring
prior to the third anniversary of the date the Convertible Preferred Stock is initially issued, (ii) 125% of-ihathenlLiquidation
Preference for a change of control occuriamgor following the third anniversary and prior to the fifth anniversary of the date the
Convertible Preferred Stock is initially issued and (iii) 100% of the-theerent Liquidation Preference for a change of control
occurring on or following the fiftanniversary of the date the Convertible Preferred Stock is initially issued.

Standstill Restrictions

The Purchaser and its affiliates are subject to certain customary standstill provisions that restrict them from, anaatigrigher

acquiring additionasecurities of the Company if such acquisition would result in the Purchaser beneficially owning in excess of 25%
of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company until the later of the third anniversary of the date the (enefertéie
Stock B initially issued and the date on which the Purchaser no longer has record or beneficial ownership of common stock and
Convertible Preferred Stock that constitute at least 10% of the outstanding common stock.

15. Business Combination

OnJanuary®2 022 (the acquisition date), we acquired all the iss
Canadéabased fully integrated property management solutions provider focused on the complexmanity and resort market. The
consoliddt ed financial statements include the results of Rasort

solutions to customers in the complex maltnenity and resort market.

The purchase price consisted of $22.6 million of cath gieclosing, funded from cash on hand, partially offset by $0.3 million of
ResortSuiteb6s cash received in the acquisition, asrabultiiggn 2 n
net cash consideration of $24.5 millidWe allocated the purchase price for ResortSuite to the intangible and certain tangible assets
acquired and certain liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date, with the reragaitegl una
purchase price recorded ggodwill. We determined the fair values assigned to identifiable intangible assets acquired primarily by
using the income approach, which discounts the expected future cash flows to present value using estimates and assumptions
determined by management.

In accordance with ASU No. 2088, we applied Topic 606 to record certain customer accounts receivable and the contract liabilities
assumed in the acquisition, which consisted of undelivered performance obligations under customer contracts. We adeg2éd ASU
08 early as permitted. As a result, in allocating the purchase price, we recorded $2.8 million of contract liabilisestirgpthe

revenue that will be recognized as the underlying performance obligations are delivered.

The following table setforth the components and the allocation of the purchase price for our acquisition of ResortSuite:

(In thousands) Total
Components of Purchase Price:
Cash $ 24,80(
Total purchase price $ 24,80(

Allocation of Purchase Price:
Net tangible assets (liabilities):

Accounts receivable, net $ 2,02t
Other current assets, including cash acquired 51¢
Other assets 567
Current and other liabilities (768
Contract liabilities (2,835
Net tangible assets (liabilities) (492)
Identifiable intangible assets:
Customer relationships 9,63¢
Non-competition agreements 84¢
Developed technology 827
Trade names 84¢
Total identifiable intangible assets 12,15¢
Goodwill 13,137
Total purchase price allocation $ 24,80(
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We assigned the acquired customer relationshipscompetition agreements, developed technology, and trade names estimated
useful lives of 15 years, two years, five years, and five years, respectively, the weighted average of which is appfdkinyataly.
The acquired identifiable intangible assets are being amortized on a dliredbdsis, which we believe approximates the pattern in
which the assets are utilized, over their estimated useful lives.

The goodwill recognized in the ResortSuite passh price allocation is attributable to synergies in products and technologies to serve
a broader customer base, and the addition of a skilled, assembled workforce. The acquisition resulted in the recathition of $
million of goodwill, which is expectetb be deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company recognized acquisition costs of $0.5 million related to the acquisition of ResortSuite, consisting primarily of
professional fees, during the year ended March 31, 2022. The consolidated statemengitiohsgncludes these costs in severance

and other charges.

Revenue attributable to ResortSuite included in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 812822 wa
million. Net income (loss) was not material. The pro formadatf the business combination during the two years ended March 31,
2022 was not material to our historical consolidated operating results and is therefore not presented.

We have prepared the purchase price allocation for ResortSuite on a preliminary basis. Changes to the allocation may occur as
additional information becomes available during the measurement period (up to one year from the acquisition date).

Effective April 1, 2022, ResortSuite became Agilysys Canada, Inc. a wbathed subsidiary of Agilysys, Inc.

16. Subsequent Events
None.
17. Related Party Transaction

See Note 14Preferred Stockfor description of the MAK Capital investment in the Company. Michael Kaufman, the Chairman of the
Companyés Board of Directors, is the Chief Executive Offic

Schedule II- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Years ended March31, 2022, 221 and 2020

Balance at  Charged to Balance at
beginning o costs and end of

(In thousands) year expenses Deductions year
2022
Deferred tax valuation allowance $ 74,63 % o $ (5,11 $ 69,51¢
Allowance for expected credit losses $ 122 $ 117 % (1,019 $ 31¢
2021
Deferred tax valuation allowance $ 66,81¢ $ 781: $ o} $ 74,63:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1632 $ 50 $ 922) $ 1,22(
2020
Deferred tax valuation allowance $ 57,85: $ 8,961 $ o} $ 66,81¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 78¢ % 1,432 $ (589 $ 1,63¢
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Item 9. Change in and Disagreements WitlAccountants on Accounting and FinanciaDisclosures.
None.

Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief ®Bxecut
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Baseduatichatleya
CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this reqioe aoe effe
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed under the Exchange Act of 133bisl€il rprocessed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (ii) is accumulated and tsshteunica
our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regardieg déesplasure. A controls
system cannot provide absolute assurance, however, that the objectives of the controls system are met, and no ewaltrat®on of ¢
can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, witipamsyctave been detected.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Agilysys, under the supervision of the CEO and CFO, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequat
internal control over financial reparg, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules1B8§ and 15€15(f). Under the

supervision of our CEO and CFO, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control olver financia
reporting as of MarcB1, 2022 based ondgtframework in Internal Contrelintegrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commi ssion (@iCOSC

control over financial reporting, becale we acquired ResortSuite Inc. (AResortSui
as described in Part Il, Item 8, Note 15, Business Combination, to our consolidated financial statements, our management has
excluded the operations of ResortSuita accordance with the SEC6s general guida

business may be omitted from the scope of the evaluation for a period of up to one year following the acquisition.t3otal asse
(excluding goodwill and intangible agss acquired) and revenue subject to Resort
represented approximately 1% and less than 1% of our consolidated total assets and revenue, respectively, as of earcefoalede vy
March31, 2022. Based on tlevaluation, management concluded that Agilysys maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of MarcB1, 2022.

Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, issued their report regarding Agilysys' inteshalveont
financial reporting as of MarcBi, 2022, which is included elsewhere in this annual report.

Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the last quéigealdt022 that has materially affected,

or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. In response to the-C®pdBdemic,
significant portions of our global workforce continued to operate primarily inrk fkmm home environment for the quarter ended
March31, 2022. While we continue to adapt our work model in response to the ongoing global pandemic, we believe our internal
controls over financial reporting continue to be effective.

Item 9B. Other Information

The Company currently plans to hold its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on August 26, 2022. Pursuant to the prakesions of
Companyés Byl aws, for any stockholder to propose busldmness
8) or make a nomination before the annual meeting, the stockholder must deliver written notice to the Secretary of theaCibpan
principal executive offices of the Company and received by the secretary not less than 90 nor more than dg&0tdake first
anniversary of the preceding yeards annual meetingis provid
advanced by more than 30 days or delayed by more than 30 days from such anniversary date, notice bylther stobkhimely

must be so received not later than the close of business on the later of the ninetieth (90th) day prior to such angealthrestdinth

(10th) calendar day following the day on which public disclosure of the date of such annuadjnsefatst made. The 2022 annual
meeting date is more than 30 days in advance of the d@nnive
on November 18, 2021. Accordingly, the Company has determined that the date by whiobldgogkhust deliver such notice for

the purposes of the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is June 2, 2022, which is 10 days after the filing of this Aoticad Rep
Form 10K. Pursuant to Rule 148, for a stockholder to submit a proposal forinclusion t he Companyds proxy
2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the stockholder must comply with the requirements set forth in Bulecltiing with
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respect to the subject matter of such proposal and must deliver the proposal andtedl desumentation to the Company a

reasonable time before the Company begins to print and send its proxy materials for the meeting. For the purposesAnithel2022
Meeting of Stockholders, the Company has determined that June 17, 2022 is a redistadletore the Company plans to begin
printing and mailing its proxy materials. The public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of the 2022 Anngial Meetin
date will not commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for giving sueh naticn d er t he Company6s
submitting a proposal pursuant to Rule -B4a

Iltem 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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Part Il
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers andCorporate Governance.

Information required by this Item as to the Directors of Agilysys, Executive Officers, the Audit Committee, Agilysys' Code of
Business Conduct, and the procedures by which shareholfder s
Directors 0 A Executive Officerso and fACorporate Governanceo in
Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the fA2022 Proxy Statemento
compliance wh Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by our Directors, executive officers, and holders of more than
five percent of Agilysys' equity securities wildl breficialet f o
Ownership Reporting Compliance. 0

We adopted a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all Directors and employees of Agilysys, including the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The Code is available on our webdlitttpat/www.agilysys.com

ltem 11. Executive Compensation.

this Item is set forth in our

The information required by
AfiCompensati on Co nmudrporatedéderdhédyp or t , 0

AiDirector Compensation, 0
reference.
ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relate8hareholder Matters.

The information required by this Item is set forth in our 2022 Proxy Statement under the h&aBiega e f i c i al Owner s|
Shares, 0 and AEquity Compensation Plan Information, 0 which

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Relatedl'ransactions, and Directorindependence.

The informatior equi red by this item is set forth in our 2022 Prox
AfRel ated Person Transactions, 0 which information is incorp

Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees andServices.

Theinformrat i on required by this Item is set forth in our 2022
I ndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm, o which info
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial StatementSchedules.

(a)(1)Financial statementsThe following consolidated financial statements are included herein and are incorporated by reference in
Part I, Item 8 of this Annual Report:

Report of Grant Thornton LLP, Independent Registerddi®Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of M&@th2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended BBr2622, 2021, and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the yearsvianrdbd1, 2022, 2021, and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended 81grgh22, 2021, and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended3agfl22, 2021, and 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stagnts

(a)(2)Financial statement schedul€he following financial statement schedule is included herein and is incorporated by reference in
Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report:

Schedule I} Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have bheemitted since they are not applicable or the required information is included in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits. Exhibits included herein and those incorporated by reference are listed in the Exhibit Inde>Aofithal Report.
ltem 16. Form 18K Summary.

None.
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Agilysys, Inc.

Exhibit Index

Exhibit No.

Description

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

*10.1

*10.2

*10.3

*10.4

*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

*10.9

Plan of Conversion of Agilysys, Inc., an Ohio corporation into Agilysys, Inc., a Delaware corporation, which is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Ag8 v s | Il nc. 6s Cu rKfieedRebruary 9 8022 (File Mo

000-05734).

Amended Ohio Articles of Incorporation of Agilysys, Inc., which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Ac
I nc. 6s Amendment drnolGKA filed duly 29R2820 ¢FiletNo. 0G05784).

Amended Ohio Code of Regulations of Agilysys, Inc., which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Agilys
Il nc.6s Quart er |-yfor e quarteriendedrSepemlbrem30, 2020 (File No08@34).

Del aware Certificate of Conversion of Agilysys, |
Current Report on FormR filed Fekruary 9, 2022 (File No. 0005734).

Delaware Certificate of Incorporation of Agilysys, Inc., which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Agily:
Il nc. 6s Cur r eniKfilRddebouary 9, 2022 (HieoNo.r0dTHY34).

Delaware Certificate of Designation of 5.25% Convertible Preferred Stock of Aqgilysys, Inc., which is incorporate
reference to Exhi Burtent Rep@ton FormR filed IFebiarys9, 2022 (Fite N6. §G15734).

Del aware Byl aws of Agi |l ysys, Il nc. , which is incor
on Form 8K filed February 9, 2022 (Filblo. 00605734).
Ohi o Certificate of Conversion of Agilysys, |l nc. ,

Current Report on FormR filed February 9, 2022 (File No. 0dib734).

Description of Registrant s Securities Registered
incorporated by reference to Exhilitl to Agilysys, Inc.'s Amendment to Annual Report on ForakM®filed July 29,
2020 (File No. 00D5734).

The Company's Annual Incentive Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Agilysys, Ir
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filathe 28, 2011 (File No. 0885734).

Form of Ohio Indemnification Agreement entered into by and between Agilysys, Inc. and each of its Directors, v
incorporated herein by refance to Exhibit 10(e) to Agilysys, Inc.'s Annual Report on Forrf I0r the year ended
March 31, 2018 (File No. 0605734).

Adgilysys, Inc. 2011 Stock Incentive Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Agilysys,
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 1#lAd June 28, 2011 (File No. 0di5734).

Aqilysys, Inc. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference to Appendix B to Agilysys, |
Definitive Proxy Statement on Scheelu4A filed August 15, 2016 (File No. 0@%734).

Form of Stock Appreciation Right Agreement under the Agilysys, Inc. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, which is incor|
herein by reference to Exhibit 108 Aqilysys, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form-@0for the quarter ended Septembe
30, 2018 (File No. 0005734).

Form of Directors Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Agilysys, Inc. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, whictk
incorporated herein by reference to Exhikf).1 to Agilysys, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@or the quarter endel
September 30, 2018 (File No. G06734).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Agilysys, Inc. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, which is incorpi
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2Agilysys, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form-@0for the quarter ended Septembe
30, 2018 (File No. 0005734).

Form of Executive Employment Agreement, which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aqgilysy
Current Report on FormR filed January 31, 2018 (File No. 006734).

Employment Agreement dated February 10, 2020 by and between Aqilysys. Inc. and Ramesh Srinivasan, whicl
incorporated by reference to ExhibiKfilddGFebantlsd, 202@ (File

No. 00605734).
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SSAR Agreement dated January 3, 2017, by and between Agilysys, Inc. and Ramesh Srinivasan, which is inco
herein byreference to Exhibit 10(s) to Agilysys, Inc.'s. Annual Report on Forid fidd the year ended March 31, 201
(File No. 00605734).

SSAR Agreement dated February 10, 2020, by and between Agilysys, Inc. and Ramesh Srinivasan, which is in
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Agilysyiac.'s Amendment to Annual Report on FormKI/@ filed July 29, 2020 (File

No. 00605734).

Aqilysys, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Agilysys, Inc.'s C
Report on Form 1@ for the quarteended December 31, 2020 (File No. GiEY34).

Adqilysys, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Agilysys, In
Quarterly Report on Form 1Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 (File No-0BJ034).

Form of SARs Award Agreement (Time Vesting), which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Aqgilysys,
Quarterly Report on Form 1Q for the quadr ended December 31, 2020 (File No.-08734).

Form SARs Award Agreement (Performance Vesting), which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Agi
Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form - for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 (File No-0B034).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement, which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Agilysys, Inc.
Quarterly Report on Form 10 for the quarteended December 31, 2020 (File No. @i%Y34).

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Nemployee Directors, which is incorporated by reference to Exh
10.6 to Aqilysys, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@or the quarter ended December 31, 2020 (File No-0BI34).

Investment Agreement, dated May 11, 2020, by and between Agilysys, Inc. and MAK Capital One L.L.C., whict
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 toilgsys, Inc.'s Current Report on FornK8filed May 13, 2020 (File No.

000-05734).

Regqistration Rights Agreement, dated May 22, 2020, by and among Agilysys, Inc., MAK Capital Fund L.P. and
Capital Distressed Debt Fund I, LP, whichnsarporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Agilysys, Inc.'s Current R¢
on Form 8K filed May 26, 2020 (File No. 0605734).

Form of Delaware Indemnification Agreement entered into by and between Agilysys, Inc. and each of its Direct
Officers, which is incorporated by referericed Ex hi bi t 10.1 to Agi |l ysKfied 1| n
February 9, 2022 (File No. 0615734).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarb@rkey Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarb@mésy Act of 2002.

Certification of Corporate Controller and Treasurer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sathdeesct of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller and Treasurer pursuan
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of SafidrgsAct of 2002.

Inline XBRL Instance Documeritthe instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XI
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy ExtensioRresentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Filed herewith
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly epdd th
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Alpharetta, State of Gétagia3p2022.

AGILYSYS, INC.

/s/ Ramesh Srinivasan

Ramesh Srinivasan

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed belolloynip@ersons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on May 23, 2022.

Signature Title
/s/ Ramesh Srinivasan President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ramesh Srinivasan (Principal Executivefficer)
/s/ William David Wood Il Chief Financial Officer,
William David Wood I (Principal Financial Officer)
/sl Chris J. Robertson Corporate Controller and Treasurer
Chris J. Robertson (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Michael A. Kaufman Chairman and Director
Michael A. Kaufman
/s/ Donald A. Colvin Director
Donald A. Colvin
/s/ Gerald C. Jones Director
Gerald C. Jones
/s/ John Mutch Director
John Mutch
/s/ Melvin L. Keating Director
Melvin L. Keating
/s/ Dana Jones Director

Dana Jones
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SUBSIDIARIES OF AGILYSYS, INC.

State or
jurisdiction of

organization or

Subsidiaries of Agilysys, Inc. incorporation
Agilysys NV, LLC Delaware
Agilysys China Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong
Agilysys HK Limited Hong Kong
Agilysys MC Limited Macau
Agilysys Hospitality Solutions (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Peopl ebs Reg
Agilysys Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Agilysys Philippines, Inc. Philippines

Agilysys UK Ltd.

Agilysys Technologies India Private Limited
Agilysys Australia Pty Ltd

Agilysys Canada, Inc.

United Kingdom
India

Australia
Canada

Exhibit 21



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated May 23, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and supplemergaldschedul
internal control over financiaeporting included in the Annual Report of Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries on Fekfdithe year

ended Marcl81, 2022. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Agilysys, Inc.
and subsidiaries oRorm S3 (File No. 333248273) and on Form-& (File No. 333253045).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
May 23, 2022



Exhibit 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned directors of Agilysys, Inc., a Delawvaer por ati on (the ACompanyo), do
appoint William David Wood Il and Chris J Robertson, and each of them individually, the true and lawful attorney orsatfotrey
undersigned, with power to act with or without the othret with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to execute in the name
and on behalf of the undersigned as directors of the Company, the Annual Report of the Company orKFomth&Jiscal year
ended Marcl81, 2022, and any and all amendmehé&séto; and each of the undersigned hereby ratifies and approves all that said
attorneys or any of them shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

In Witness Whereof, each of the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney in onecoumenparts effective as of
the 20" day of May 2022.

Signature Title(s)

/s/ Michael A. Kaufman
Michael A. Kaufman Chairman and Director

/s/ Donald A. Colvin
Donald A. Colvin Director

/sl Gerald C. Jones
Gerald CJones Director

/sl John Mutch
John Mutch Director

/sl Melvin L. Keating
Melvin L. Keating Director

/s/ Dana Jones
Dana Jones Director




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Ramesh Srinivasan, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL@f Agilysys, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary tmake the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information includedepaditt, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, theeperitmts
in this report;

The registrantés ot her «cert itablighingiagnd noainthiming disclesura aomtrold andaproeedures s
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 1B3#(e) and 15d.5(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13al5(f) and 15€L5(f)) for the registrant and have:

a). Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed unc
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaxdes, is
knownto us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b). Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supesian, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c). Evaluated the effectiveness of theregisr't 6 s di scl osure controls and procedur
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based
such evaluation; and

d). Disclosed inthisreppt any change in the registrantés internal cor
registrantds fourth fiscal quarter that has mat@&sially
internal control over finagial reporting; and

The registrantés other certifying officers and | have di

financi al reporting, to the registrantdés ausdarpesans and t h

performing the equivalent functions):

a). All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably 1ikely t ocom,grecesssarimarizeaahd reperttfinabclale r e
information; and

b). Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrantdéds internal control over financial reporting

Dated: May 232022

By: /s/ Ramesh Srinivasan
Ramesh Srinivasan
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

[, William David Wood lIl, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL@f Agilysys, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleadin
with regect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly prkésent in a
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flowsegitrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

The registrantés other certifying officers and | @eduesr es
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13#(e) and 15d.5(€) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13al5(f) and 15€L5(f)) for the registrant and have:

a). Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed unc
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaxdes, is
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b). Designedsuch internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financlastatements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c). Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdés dinscl o
about the effectiveness of thsdosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrantd
regi strtahntfdsscfadurquarter that has materially affected,
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrantés other ce
financi al reporting, to t
performing the equivalent functions):

i fy
r

i ng off i ocoeodfistermaincdntrdlovdrav e d
egi s t

rt

he trantébés auditors and

a). All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the desigperation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the re
information; and

b). Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves mamagnt or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrantdéds internal control over financial reporting

Dated: May 23, 2022

By: s/ William David Wood IlI
William David Wood Il
Chief Financial Officer
(PrincipalFinancial Officer)




Exhibit 31.3

CERTIFICATION OF THE CORPORATE CONTROLLER AND TREASURER

I, Chris J. Robertson, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKL@f Agilysys, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleadin
with regect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly prkésent in a
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flowsegitrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

The registrantés other certifying officers and | @eduesr es
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13#(e) and 15d.5(€) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13al5(f) and 15€L5(f)) for the registrant and have:

a). Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed unc
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaxdes, is
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b). Designedsuch internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financlastatements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c). Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdés dinscl o
about the effectiveness of thsdosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrantd
regi strtahntfdsscfadurquarter that has materially affected,
internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrantés other ce
financi al reporting, to t
performing the equivalent functions):

i fy
r

i ng off i ocoeodfistermaincdntrdlovdrav e d
egi s t

rt

he trantébés auditors and

a). All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the desigperation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the re
information; and

b). Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves mamagnt or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrantdéds internal control over financial reporting

Dated: May 23, 2022

By: /s/ Chris J. Robertson
Chris J. Robertson
Corporate Controller and Treasurer
(PrincipalAccounting Officer)




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the -Badegnest 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursudettion 906 of the Sarban@xley Act of 2002, Ramesh Srinivasan, the
Chief Executive Officer, William David Wood lll, the Chief Financial Officer, and Chris J. Robertson, the Corporate Ganicblle
Treasurer, of Agilysys, Inc. (the "Company"), herebstifye that, to their knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 40 of the Company for the annual period ended M&ch, 2022 (t he HfAReport
with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and resu#tSarfsope
of the Company.

Dated: May 23, 2022

By: /s/ Ramesh Srinivasan
Ramesh Srinivasan
President and Chidfxecutive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ William David Wood I
William David Wood Il
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Chris J. Robertson
Chris J. Robertson
CorporateController and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)




